
CABINET
4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 21ST NOVEMBER, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


OPEN SESSION

Strategic

3. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Quarter 2 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 5 - 30

4. Capital Monitoring Report 2018/19 – Quarter 2 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 31 - 38

5. Annual Risk Management Progress Report and 
Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 39 - 78

6. School Reorganisation – 3 to 16 Voluntary Aided 
School 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 79 - 92

Portfolio

7. Call off Contract for the supply of refuse vehicles 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

93 - 96

8. Public Open Space, Woodlands Avenue Treharris 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

97 - 100

9. Community Zone - Update 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 101 - 114

10. Be Positive not Perfect - Parenting Marketing 
Campaign 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 115 - 120

11. Pontmorlais Promenade and Labour Exchange 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

121 - 126



CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s (12, 14 & 16) 
under Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972.

12. Debt Write Off report 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 127 - 134

13. Direct Payments Support Service 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

135 - 138

14. Land at Pant Industrial Estate, Merthyr Tydfil CF48 
2SR 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

139 - 144

RE-OPENED SESSION

15. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair)
                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors     A Barry, K Gibbs, D Hughes and 
G Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Quarter 2

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The report details the projected revenue outturn for 2018/19 as at 30th September 
2018, that is the 2st Quarter, and was considered at Budget Board on 7th November 
2018.

1.2 The report advises Cabinet of the projected outturn position for the 2018/19 financial 
year whilst focusing on projected major budget variances, be it service areas 
experiencing significant financial pressures or service areas projected to be 
significantly underspent against approved budgets.

1.3 A net revenue deficit of £312,000 is projected for the financial year. Significant 
budget deficits are projected for the Social Services Department (£1,467,000), and 
Learning Department (£605,000), and are offset by a contribution from the Budget 
Reserve.  The budget overspends were further challenged at Budget Board.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 The second Revenue Budget Monitoring report for the 2018/19 financial year based 
on 2st Quarter projections be accepted.

2.2 Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be approved.

2.3 Managers to urgently address projected budget deficits within their respective 
service areas, identifying all possible remedial measures to offset projected deficits. 

Date Written 7th November 2018
Report Author Steve Jones / Ian Kent / Adam Price
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st November 2018

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2.4 Managers to continue to monitor all revenue budgets and immediately notify the 
Chief Finance Officer of potential financial difficulties.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Regular planned budget monitoring is crucial in ensuring effective financial 
stewardship and accountability and is governed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s recommended best working practices.

3.2 It is considered critical that Budget Monitoring arrangements are continually 
reviewed and enhanced to ensure continued effectiveness with robust challenge 
provided by both the Budget Board and Change Management Board.

3.3 This report details the net revenue expenditure position for the period 1st April 2018 
to 30th September 2018 (2nd Quarter) and revenue outturn projections for the 
2018/19 financial year, and was considered at Budget Board of 7th November 2018. 

4.0 FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS 2018/19

4.1 Detailed in Appendix 1 is the summary Revenue Budget Monitoring statement as at 
30th September 2018, with a net revenue deficit of £312,000 projected for the 
2018/19 financial year.

4.2 Detailed in Appendix 2 are requested Budget virements resulting from budget re-
alignment, required investment and departmental re-configuration.

4.3 Detailed Directorate net expenditure to date and projected budget outturn positions 
are disclosed in Appendices 3 to 5 as follows:

o Appendix 3 – People and Performance Directorate.
o Appendix 4 – Place and Transformation Directorate.
o Appendix 5 – Corporate Costs.

4.4 Major variances satisfying the following criteria are disclosed in Appendix 6:  

o Any under / over spend of at least £50,000.
o Any under / over spend that is 10% or more of the budget and at least 

£20,000 in value.
o Any other under / over spend considered significant at the discretion of the 

Chief Finance Officer.

5.0 CURRENT  MAJOR ISSUES AND ASSUMPTIONS

5.1 A significant net revenue deficit of £1,467,000 is projected for the Social Services 
Department.  This is attributable to additional demand in Looked After Children 
Residential Placement Services (£738,000), Looked After Children Independent 
Fostering Agencies (£314,000), Adult Services Independent Domiciliary Care 
(£260,000), Supported Placements (£135,000), and the Direct Payments Service 

Page 6



(£91,000).  The Homes for the Elderly budget is also projected to overspend by 
£90,000 owing to additional staff costs.  These pressures are being offset by a 
projected underspend in the Independent Residential Establishments budget of 
£250,000.  

5.2 A significant net revenue deficit of £605,000 is projected for the Learning Department 
owing to identified additional learning needs within the Enhanced Provision budget 
(£421,000), additional costs arising from the Learning Resource Base (LRB) review 
(£88,000), and the cost of funding two trade union posts in the schools (£51,000).

5.3 A surplus of £71,000 is projected for the Place and Transformation Directorate. 
However, there are projected budget deficits of £104,000 within Bereavement 
Services due to a shortfall in income, and £95,000 in the Sustainable Waste 
Management budget due to a reduction in Welsh Government grant and additional 
agency staff costs.

5.4 A deficit of £97,000 is projected for the Corporate Costs budget, which is due to 
overspends in the External Legal Fee budget (£48,000) and unbudgeted costs for 
security and utilities at the Pengarnddu site (£117,000).  The Capital Financing Cost 
Budget line is subject to further review as a result of amendments to the 21st Century 
Schools Programme.

5.5 To address the deficits above, a contribution from the Budget Reserve has been 
projected. 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 A net deficit budget outturn of £312,000 is projected for 2018/19 based on the 
financial position as at 30th September 2018.

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4  0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

Page 7



4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the report contributes to the financial sustainability of 
the Council and therefore enables the continued delivery of essential Council services.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Working 
Papers

April 2018 to September 
2018

Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 8



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
Corporate Summary

30-Jun-18 Vacant 30-Sep-18
Budget Post Other Budget Outturn

Summary 2018/19 Virements Virements 2018/19 Month 6
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

People and Performance
Social Services, Chief Officer Social Services 32,093 -88 150 32,155 17,636 33,622 1,467 4.56
Learning, Chief Officer Education 44,716 0 -150 44,566 40,749 45,171 605 1.36

76,809 -88 0 76,721 58,385 78,793 2,072 2.70

Place and Transformation
Deputy Chief Executive Services 2,372 -3 0 2,369 1,349 2,357 -12 -0.51
Community Regeneration 3,609 -31 0 3,578 3,471 3,627 49 1.37
Neighbourhood Services 10,958 -34 0 10,924 5,891 10,946 22 0.20
Corporate Services 4,032 -8 -2 4,022 3,157 4,055 33 0.82
Finance 1,208 -18 0 1,190 607 1,167 -23 -1.93
Legal 1,746 0 0 1,746 819 1,664 -82 -4.70
Human Resources & Organisational Development 848 -9 0 839 370 781 -58 -6.91
Total 24,773 -103 -2 24,668 15,664 24,597 -71 -0.29

Corporate Costs
Corporate Management - Executive 1,581 0 0 1,581 764 1,576 -5 -0.32
Corporate Authority 17,836 0 2 17,838 12,716 17,935 97 0.54
Total 19,417 0 2 19,419 13,480 19,511 92 0.47

Contributions / Recharges
Non General Fund Allocations -835 0 0 -835 0 -928 -93 11.14
Discretionary Non Domestic Rate Relief 46 0 0 46 0 46 0 0.00
Collection Fund Surplus -820 0 0 -820 0 -932 -112 13.66
Corporate Vacancy Factor -457 191 0 -266 0 -266 0 0.00
Contribution from Budget Reserve -1,469 0 0 -1,469 0 -3,045 -1,576 107.28
Contribution from Living Wage Reserve -275 0 0 -275 0 -275 0 0.00
Contribution to/from Corporate Investment Fund -184 0 0 -184 0 -184 0 0.00
Redundancy & EPP Committed 1,056 0 0 1,056 756 1,056 0 0.00
Capitalisation of Severance costs -600 0 0 -600 -600 -600 0 0.00

Total -3,538 191 0 -3,347 156 -5,128 -1,781 53.21

Net Expenditure 117,461 0 0 117,461 87,685 117,773 312 0.27

Variance

Appendix 1

Year End 
Projection

P
age 9



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
Proposed Budget Virements Appendix 2

Budget
Amount 

£'000 Budget
Amount 

£'000
Independent External Care Provision - Direct 
Payments

-100 Independent External Care Provision - Independent 
Domiciliary Care

100 Welsh Independent Living Grant into RSG for 18/19, Independent
Dom Care being allocated to correct budget line

LAC Fostering - Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA's) 1,622

LAC Fostering - In House, Kinship & Emergency/Respite 
Fostering Services

1,394

Family Learning -49 Adult Community Learning 49 Merged cost centres
Individual Schools Budget (ISB) -435 EOTAS 435 Funding de-delegated from the High Schools budgets to fund the 

EOTAS provision.
Education - Special Recoupment -150 Children Looked After - LAC Residential Placement 

Services
150 Education Virement for Specialist Residential/Boarding School

costs (IRO BT)

Special Recoupment

-33 EOTAS 33 Budget previously assigned to pupils who were going to need a 
out of county placement who are now placed in the EOTAS 
provision.

Strategic Education Projects -47 EOTAS 47 Monies set aside in the Strategic projects budget to fund the 
transitional arrangements of the new EOTAS provision. 

Trading Standards General -2
Licensing -2
Transport -6
Civic Amenities -18 Fleet Management 18 Centralisation of budget for hook loader fleet costs

Waste Disposal 13
Civic Amenities 9

Street Cleansing -3 Fleet Management 3 Centralisation of budget for fly tipping fleet costs
Fleet Management -18 Refuse Collections 18 Transfer of budget for bulky waste vehicle, to fund hire of short 

term replacement.
Fleet Management -32 Sustainable Waste Management 32 Transfer of budget for Waste Collection vehicle to cover cost of 

maintenance
Revenues -23 Service Support and Development 23 Staff Member moving from Reveune Team to one stop shop.
Audit -2 Contribution to Pensions 2 Pension costs associated with a retired employee moved to

corporate.

Salary apportionment of managers time over budget areas.

Virement From Virement To
Reason for Virement

Fostering Services -3016
Fostering Services line split out to reflect the Independent and In 
House Services

-22
Grounds Maintenance Transfer of budget for disposal of residual waste (waste 

disposal), and for treatment of green waste (civic amenities).

Community Safety 10

P
age 10



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Social Services
Business Support
Business Manager 59 59 31 61 2 3.39
Compliments and Complaints 74 74 26 75 1 1.35

133 0 0 133 57 136 3 2.26

Social Care Services and Recharges
Quality & Regulation Services 93 93 42 92 -1 -1.08
Client Financial Management Services 225 225 118 228 3 1.33
Receivership 28 28 0 28 0 0.00
SEWIC Making the Connections 0 0 -140 0 0 0.00

346 0 0 346 20 348 2 0.58

Duty, IAA & ACT Compliance
Out of Hours/Emergency Duty Services 75 75 0 75 0 0.00
IAA Duty Services 68 68 34 67 -1 -1.47
Citizen Engagement 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

143 0 0 143 34 142 -1 -0.70

Early Intervention and Assistance Services
Multiple Intervention Assistance Service 0 0 37 0 0 0.00
Carers Network 207 -4 203 46 202 -1 -0.49

207 -4 0 203 83 202 -1 -0.49

Social Services Collaborative Partnerships
SEW IT Shared Service 26 26 0 0 -26 -100.00
Integrated Community Equipment Store (ICES) 169 169 195 169 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 144 144 0 144 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Youth Offending Services 340 340 170 310 -30 -8.82
Vale, Valleys & Cardiff (VVC) Regional Adoption Group 175 175 74 178 3 1.71
Integrated Family Support Services (IFST) 280 280 0 280 0 0.00
Delivering Transformation (Collaborative Regional Change Agenda) 62 62 0 62 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Autism Service 40 40 14 40 0 0.00
Deprivation of Liberty (DOLs) Services 72 72 28 73 1 1.39
Cwm Taf Reflect Project 0 0 0 19 19 0.00

1,308 0 0 1,308 481 1,275 -33 -2.52

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 11



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Adult Social Services
Adult Social Care
Adult Services Management 145 145 69 148 3 2.07
Social Care Client Service Strategies 48 48 24 48 0 0.00
Health Park Building Costs 163 163 41 163 0 0.00

356 0 0 356 134 359 3 0.84

Assessment & Care Management Services
Social Work Team 1,145 -25 1,120 543 1,116 -4 -0.36

1,145 -25 0 1,120 543 1,116 -4 -0.36

Initial Support Services
ISS Management 68 68 34 68 0 0.00
Initial Adult Services 249 -6 243 119 240 -3 -1.23
Initial Response Services 556 556 267 561 5 0.90
Community Occupational Therapy 309 -12 297 145 296 -1 -0.34
Telecare / Telehealth Services (Assistive Technologies) 112 112 13 113 1 0.89

1,294 -18 0 1,276 578 1,278 2 0.16

Supported and Accommodation Services
MTCBC Homes for the Elderly 1,749 1,749 871 1,839 90 5.15
MTCBC Group Home (Llysfaen Fach) 904 904 461 905 1 0.11
Supporting People 99 99 559 65 -34 -34.34

2,752 0 0 2,752 1,891 2,809 57 2.07

Day Care Services
Outside/Community Based Activities 227 227 102 232 5 2.20
Day Centres 986 986 513 1,007 21 2.13
Transport 215 215 70 215 0 0.00

1,428 0 0 1,428 685 1,454 26 1.82

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 12



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Independent External Care Provision
Supported Placements 2,496 2,496 1,022 2,631 135 5.41
Shared Lives 387 387 170 307 -80 -20.67
Independent Domiciliary Care 1,812 100 1,912 893 2,172 260 13.60
Direct Payments 1,693 -100 1,593 915 1,684 91 5.71
Independent Commissioned Day Services 166 166 75 196 30 18.07
Independent Residential Establishments (IRE's) 4,751 4,751 2,647 4,501 -250 -5.26
Extra Care Facility 248 248 116 251 3 1.21

11,553 0 0 11,553 5,838 11,742 189 1.64

Children Social Services
Children's Social Care
Children's Social Care 135 135 87 134 -1 -0.74

Children with Disabilities
Children with Disabilities 687 -26 661 398 680 19 2.87

Children Looked After
Looked After Children Team 474 474 236 471 -3 -0.63
Looked After Children Educational Support (LACES) 161 161 82 170 9 5.59
Fostering & Family Placement Team 413 413 189 398 -15 -3.63
LAC Residential Placement Services 1,196 150 1,346 670 2,084 738 54.83
Fostering Services (Line removed) 3,016 -3016 0 0 0 0 0.00
LAC Fostering - Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA's) 0 1622 1,622 755 1,936 314 19.36
LAC Fostering - In House, Kinship & Emergency/Respite Fostering Services 0 1394 1,394 795 1,436 42 3.01
Children Looked After (Court, Legal & Professional) Services 80 80 60 126 46 57.50
Leaving Care Support Services 711 711 307 764 53 7.45
Adoption Services 111 111 46 103 -8 -7.21
Advocacy Services 75 75 6 61 -14 -18.67

6,237 0 150 6,387 3,146 7,549 1,162 18.19

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 13



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Intake & Family Support Services
Intake Team 450 450 259 507 57 12.67
Child & Family Team 608 608 315 651 43 7.07
Specialist Family Support 25 25 19 25 0 0.00
Family Centre & Contact Services 598 598 294 576 -22 -3.68
Children in Need 437 437 185 437 0 0.00
Support Other Than Looked After Services 752 752 365 754 2 0.27

2,870 0 0 2,870 1,437 2,950 80 2.79

Youth Justice Services
Youth Justice Services (LASPO) 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

Safeguarding
Merthyr Tydfil Safeguarding Unit 69 69 35 68 -1 -1.45
Independent Safeguarding Services 108 108 58 132 24 22.22
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 286 286 138 300 14 4.90

463 0 0 463 231 500 37 7.99

Early Years and Youth Management 60 60 30 59 -1 -1.67

Early Years
Early Years 156 156 55 153 -3 -1.92
Out of School Childcare Grant 0 0 16 0 0.00
Integrated Children's Centre 61 61 20 52 -9 -14.75
Flying Start 0 0 889 0 0.00

217 0 0 217 980 205 -12 -5.53

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 14



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Youth Services
Youth Service Management 120 120 67 124 4 3.33
Youth Service Management 66 66 34 64 -2 -3.03
Youth Service 16+ 35 35 20 33 -2 -5.71
Youth Servie Penydre 93 -10 83 35 62 -21 -25.30
Youth Service Treharris 85 85 40 76 -9 -10.59
Youth Service Cyfarthfa 75 -1 74 33 74 0 0.00
Youth Service Troedyrhiw 75 75 24 73 -2 -2.67
Youth service YPAG 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Youth Service Strategy Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Sufficiency Assessments 20 20 1 10 -10 -50.00
Participation & Youth Support Services 83 83 24 73 -10 -12.05

652 -11 0 641 278 589 -52 -8.11

Communities First Legacy 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

Inspire Programmes
Inspire to Achieve 0 0 324 0 0 0.00
Inspire to Work 0 0 64 0 0 0.00
Inspire Match Funding 24 24 0 24 0 0.00

24 0 0 24 388 24 0 0.00

Families First (grant) 0 0 284 0 0 0.00

Community Development
Adult Community Learning 34 -4 49 79 33 71 -8 -10.13
Family & Community Services 49 -49 0 0 0 0 0.00
NIACE 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

83 -4 0 79 33 71 -8 -10.13

Net Expenditure Social Services 32,093 -88 150 32,155 17,636 33,622 1,467 4.56

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 15



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Learning Department

Individual Schools Budget
Individual Schools Budget (ISB) 38,888 -435 38,453 38,453 38,541 88 0.23
Ynysowen Speech & Language 79 79 79 79 0 0.00
Partial Hearing Classes 162 162 164 162 0 0.00
Education Improvement Grant contribution 241 241 224 224 -17 -7.05

39,370 0 -435 38,935 38,920 39,006 71 0.18

Other School Expenditure
Maternity Costs 62 62 0 62 0 0.00
Facility Time 16 16 13 67 51 318.75
Retirement / Severance 364 364 177 354 -10 -2.75
Welsh Joint Education Committee (WJEC) 14 14 0 0 -14 -100.00
Standardising Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

456 0 0 456 190 483 27 5.92

School Meals and Milk
School Meals 13 13 -557 13 0 0.00
Breakfast Clubs 0 0 -163 50 50 100.00

13 0 0 13 -720 63 50 384.62

Strategic Management and Support
Education Department Training 7 7 0 2 -5 -71.43
Extended Leadership Team 78 78 37 79 1 1.28

85 0 0 85 37 81 -4 -4.71

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 16



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

School Support Services
Building Maintenance 47 47 27 79 32 68.09
Health & Safety 29 29 11 23 -6 -20.69
Caretaking & Cleaning SLA 0 0 -14 0 0 0.00
LMS & Resources 48 48 -1 49 1 2.08
Admissions 70 70 39 70 0 0.00
Governor Support 27 27 -76 9 -18 -66.67
Headteacher / Schools Forum 3 3 0 0 -3 -100.00
General Office Running Costs 9 9 2 5 -4 -44.44
Peripatetic Music Service 0 0 -44 0 0 0.00
Youth Orchestra Service 15 15 9 17 2 13.33

248 0 0 248 -47 252 4 1.61

Other Education
Local Safeguarding Children's Board (LSCB) 9 9 9 9 0 0.00
Ground Rent - Cyfarthfa Park Infants buillding 17 17 8 16 -1 -5.88
Vacant Education Properties 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Grant to Organisations 1 1 0 0 -1 -100.00

27 0 0 27 17 25 -2 -7.41

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 17



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Special Educational Needs
Education Inclusion 67 67 64 67 0 0.00
Enhanced Provision (1-1 LSA's) 1,162 1,162 793 1,583 421 36.23
Ehanced Provision (Behaviour Support) 175 175 68 139 -36 -20.57
Speech Therapists 51 51 21 51 0 0.00
Special Tuition 231 231 128 227 -4 -1.73
Special Needs Advisory  Teachers 115 115 77 141 26 22.61
Special Recoupment 816 -183 633 213 642 9 1.42
EOTAS 0 515 515 216 515 0 0.00
Minority ethnic achievemnet in education Grant (MEAG) 0 0 45 35 35 100.00
Education of Travellers Grant 0 0 16 31 31 100.00
Psychological Services 382 382 147 363 -19 -4.97
SNAP Cymru 13 13 13 13 0 0.00
ALN Training 12 12 3 12 0 0.00
School Counselling 69 69 17 69 0 0.00
School Transport 979 979 324 991 12 1.23

4,072 0 332 4,404 2,145 4,879 475 10.79

School Improvement
Strategic Education Projects 89 -47 42 24 42 0 0.00
Schools Data Management Systems 106 106 60 93 -13 -12.26
Joint Education Service 250 250 123 247 -3 -1.20

445 0 -47 398 207 382 -16 -4.02

Net Expenditure Learning Department 44,716 0 -150 44,566 40,749 45,171 605 1.36

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 18



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
Place and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Director of Place & Transformation

ICT
ICT Computers 1,516 1,516 977 1,508 -8 -0.53
Schools ICT Team 0 0 -105 0 0 0.00
ICT Printing 188 188 108 172 -16 -8.51

Business Change & Risk Management 435 435 222 449 14 3.22

Communications
Corporate Communication Team inc Contact 134 134 102 138 4 2.99
News Merthyr/Contact Supplement 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

Emergency Planning 99 -3 96 45 90 -6 -6.25

Net Expenditure Director of Place & Transformation 2,372 -3 0 2,369 1,349 2,357 -12 -0.51

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 19



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
Place and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Community Regeneration
Economic Development 217 217 179 217 0 0.00
Physical Regeneration 184 184 800 184 0 0.00
Rights of Way 92 92 62 92 0 0.00
Orbit Business Centre -21 -21 -53 -40 -19 90.48
Tourist Information Centre 0 0 18 0 0 0.00

Employability & Worklessness
Employability core 288 288 172 287 -1 -0.35
Bridges into work 2 (grant) 0 0 135 0 0 0.00
Working Skills for Adults 0 0 120 0 0 0.00
Communities for Work P3 0 0 60 0 0 0.00
Communities for Work P1 0 0 96 0 0 0.00

Public Protection
Housing Renovation Grants -71 -71 20 -71 0 0.00
Housing Services (RSL's Advice & Strategy) 487 487 265 547 60 12.32
Community Safety 92 10 102 135 95 -7 -6.86
Glynmil Gipsy Site 3 3 -2 3 0 0.00
Trading Standards General 241 -11 -2 228 100 218 -10 -4.39
Licensing 15 -12 -2 1 -22 0 -1 -100.00
Public Health 96 96 44 91 -5 -5.21
Environmental Protection & Housing 167 167 82 173 6 3.59
Operational - combined Dog Warden and Pest Control 60 60 19 51 -9 -15.00
Animal Impounding 2 2 0 0 -2 -100.00
Food Safety & Prevention of Infectious Diseases 179 179 84 171 -8 -4.47
Default Works 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Registrars 80 80 30 67 -13 -16.25
Contribution from Renewal Reserve -75 -75 0 -75 0 0.00
Transport 1,573 -8 -6 1,559 1,127 1,617 58 3.72

Net Expenditure Community Regeneration 3,609 -31 0 3,578 3,471 3,627 49 1.37

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 20



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
Place and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Neighbourhood Services
Bereavement Services 2 2 87 106 104 5,200
Grounds Maintenance 1,187 -21 -22 1,144 621 1,059 -85 -7.43
Street Cleansing 1,161 -3 1,158 590 1,158 0 0.00
Fleet Management 720 -29 691 443 694 3 0.43

Refuse and Waste
Waste Disposal 715 13 728 503 746 18 2.47
Civic Amenities 820 -9 811 391 801 -10 -1.23
Recycling 279 279 151 258 -21 -7.53
Refuse Collection 815 18 833 300 832 -1 -0.12
Sustainable Waste 764 32 796 502 891 95 11.93
Pentrebach Depot 331 331 255 405 74 22.36

Highways and Engineering
Highways Administration 427 427 246 434 7 1.64
Highways Operational 805 805 335 818 13 1.61
Street Lighting 271 271 127 278 7 2.58
Bridge Maintenance 105 105 79 105 0 0.00
Land Drainage 47 47 28 46 -1 -2.13
Land Reclamation 21 21 4 13 -8 -38.10
Traffic Management 30 30 1 0 -30 -100.00
Engineering 352 -13 339 148 337 -2 -0.59
Depots 78 78 39 68 -10 -12.82

Corporate Property
Corporate Property & Estates Division 633 633 318 586 -47 -7.42
Asset Management 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Office Accommodation 765 765 490 718 -47 -6.14

Planning & Countryside
Planning - Development Control 156 156 59 135 -21 -13.46
Planning - Development Plan 421 421 166 403 -18 -4.28
Building Control 53 53 8 55 2 3.77

Net Expenditure Neighbourhood Services 10,958 -34 0 10,924 5,891 10,946 22 0.20

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 4

P
age 21



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
Place and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Corporate Services
Service Support and Development 1,042 23 1,065 575 1,087 22 2.03
Executive Support 171 -8 163 81 161 -2 -1.23
CCTV 165 165 61 160 -5 -3.03
Peace of Mind 12 12 6 18 6 50.00
Audit 233 -2 231 105 221 -10 -4.33
Benefits 279 279 193 252 -27 -9.68
Revenues -20 -23 -43 286 -21 22 -51.60
Parking Services -353 -353 -62 -352 1 -0.28
Civil Parking Enforcement 0 0 17 29 29 100.00
Leisure Trust 2,423 2,423 1,770 2,424 1 0.04
Retained Leisure 80 80 74 76 -4 -5.00
Sports Development 0 0 51 0 0 0.00

Net Expenditure Corporate Services 4,032 -8 -2 4,022 3,157 4,055 33 0.82

Finance
Accountancy 728 728 363 728 0 0.00
Insurance 46 46 22 46 0 0.00
Creditors 150 150 75 150 0 0.00
Procurement 284 -18 266 147 243 -23 -8.65

Net Expenditure Finance 1,208 -18 0 1,190 607 1,167 -23 -1.93

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 22



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
Place and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Legal 
Legal 243 243 101 198 -45 -18.52
Information Governance 94 94 2 67 -27 -28.72
Democracy 203 203 108 191 -12 -5.91
Register of Electors 40 40 27 40 0 0.00
Elections 0 0 9 9 9 100.00
Mayor Expenses 62 62 30 57 -5 -8.06
Members Expenses 761 761 387 767 6 0.79
Scrutiny, Performance & Partnerships 343 343 155 335 -8 -2.33

Net Expenditure Legal 1,746 0 0 1,746 819 1,664 -82 -4.70

Human Resources & Organisational Development
Human Resources 576 576 208 535 -41 -7.12
Payroll 252 -9 243 108 238 -5 -2.06
Trade Unions 20 20 54 8 -12 -60.00

Net Expenditure HR & Organisational Development 848 -9 0 839 370 781 -58 -6.91

Net Expenditure Place and Transformation 24,773 -103 -2 24,668 15,664 24,597 -71 -0.29

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 23



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018)
Corporate Costs 

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Jun-18 Virements Virements 30-Sep-18 Month 6

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Corporate Management - Executive 1,581 1,581 764 1,576 -5 -0.32

Corporate Authority
Capital Financing Costs 7,024 7,024 3,512 7,024 0 0.00
Levies 2,953 2,953 1,404 2,952 -1 -0.03
Council Tax Benefit Payments 6,025 6,025 6,014 6,014 -11 -0.18
Rent Allowances -6 -6 633 -6 0 0.00
Contribution to Pensions 453 2 455 191 455 0 0.00
External Audit and Inspection Fees 330 330 95 330 0 0.00
Insurances 400 400 481 400 0 0.00
Provision for Bad Debts 100 100 0 100 0 0.00
External Legal Fees 30 30 81 78 48 160.00
Grants to Voluntary Organisations 14 14 5 12 -2 -14.29
Subscriptions 95 95 89 95 0 0.00
Bank Charges 71 71 36 94 23 32.39
Empty Property NDR Relief 31 31 46 46 15 48.39
Translations/Welsh Translations 77 77 19 40 -37 -48.05
Other 0 0 37 117 117 100.00
Welsh Water Long Term Debt Interest -11 -11 0 -11 0 0.00
Payroll Insurance Income -5 -5 0 -2 3 -60.00
Car Purchase Loans 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Corporate Property -64 -64 -36 -64 0 0.00
Apprenticeship Levy 266 266 109 261 -5 -1.88
Holiday pay 22 22 0 0 -22 -100.00
Strategic Partnership Workstreams 31 31 0 0 -31 -100.00

17,836 0 2 17,838 12,716 17,935 97 0.54

Net Expenditure Corporate Costs 19,417 0 2 19,419 13,480 19,511 92 0.47

Appendix 5

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 24



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

1 SEW IT Shared Service -26 -100.00 Consortium has dissolved.  18/19 in year saving ahead of permanent 
budget cut recommendation within the current efficiency round. 

No further action

2 MTCBC Homes for the Elderly 90 5.15 Cover for staff direct replacement costs exceeding available budgets. Continued monitoring

3 Supporting People -35 -35.35 Budgeted to fund staff member from core, however it has been confirmed 
SPPG allows a final year of eligibility.  In 19/20 staff member will not be 
eligible in grant.

No further action

4 Supported Placements 135 5.41 Additional financial burden is primarily from the part year affect of 2 new 
packages of care within Supported placements. 1 client has transitioned 
from Childrens Services and the other from the IRE's, projections in both 
areas have been adjusted to reflect these movements

Continued monitoring

5 Shared Lives -80 -20.67 The financial element paid by the service users has increased to include 
not just housing benefit, therefore reducing the financial burden for the 
cost of care

No further action

6 Independent Domiciliary Care 260 13.60 Spot Purchasing within service is currently reflecting an outturn of £93k 
over the budget estimates.
Income levels are slightly lower than anticipated and are increasing this 
pressure by £14k.
The current average weekly hours of actual service delivery is 
significantly greater than within the budget estimates at 3,279 hour per 
week (compared to 3,090 in the budget) £152k over the budget 
estimates. Summer periods have traditionally lower service pressures 
however 18/19 is experiencing "winter pressures" levels of service 
throughout the spring/summer period.

Continued monitoring

7 Direct Payments 91 5.71 The integration services funded through the Welsh Independent Living 
Fund into a single Social Care service has resulted in an increase in the 
financial burden  being experienced within Direct Payments. There have 
been 113 care packages supported to date with 98 projected to year end 
for 18/19

Continued monitoring

8 Independent Commissioned Day Services 30 18.07 Additional financial burden is primarily from the part year affect of 1 new 
packages of care the service, which has needed to increase toa  5 day 
per week service

Continued monitoring

Action Taken to address

P
age 25



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

9 Independent Residential Establishments 
(IRE's)

-250 -5.26 Projecting a potential saving of £250k based on previous trends being 
around 160-170 clients, property accounts yet to be realised and as a 
comparison on the 17/18 outturn position.

Continued monitoring

10 Children Looked After LAC Residential 
Placement Services

738 54.83 1 "known" placements continuing with minimal change to outturn (Nil)
2 "known" placement have recently moved provisions increasing the 
outturn projection for the placement (£60k)                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
1 "known" placement planned exit from Residential has been amended to 
year end rather than October 2018 as previously thought (£66k)                                                                                                                                                          
1 "known" placement has recently moved provisions reducing the outturn 
projection for the placement (-£20k)
1 "known" placement left Residential (-£26k)
8 New placements (8 Long Term, full year) includes the recently advised 
placements (LW & KCH). 
Cost of this increased demand equates to an additional £921k, however 
part of the cost of 1 long term placement is being offset with an 
earmarked reserve and is reducing the overspend (£262k)                                                                                                                                    
1 "known" placement vired into LAC residential from Education Services 
(Nil Affect as costs and budget has been transferred)

Continued monitoring

11 LAC Fostering - Independent Fostering 
Agencies (IFA's)

314 19.36 Independent Fostering Agencies is experiencing an increased cost 
burden from 16 new placements - 12 full year affect and 4 part year affect 
(£396k)                                                                                                                                       
38 "known" placements outturning lower than expected (-£70k) primarily 
from a 1 child moving to Residential.   
Financial pressure is being offset by monies recouped from 4C's 
commissioning consortium (-£12k)

Continued monitoring

12 Children Looked After (Court, Legal & 
Professional) Services

46 57.50 Legal & Professional fees are currently projected on the average outturn 
of 16/17 and 17/18 whilst the impact of the 18/19 LAC population is more 
accurately known.

Continued monitoring

13 Leaving Care Support Services 53 7.45 Additional financial burden is primarily from the part year affect of 1 new 
packages of care within step-down/leaving care provision moving from In 
House Fostering. Projection has been adjusted to reflect this move.

Continued monitoring

14 Intake Team 57 12.67 Part year affect of 3 agency Social Workers and the ongoing projection of 
1 Agency Social Worker to end of financial year

Continued monitoring

15 Independent Safeguarding Services 24 22.22 Part year affect of short term absence cover withint he Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub

No further action required

Action Taken to address

P
age 26



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

16 Pen Y Dre Youth Centre -21 -25.30 £22k underspend generated from vacancies that will not be replaced 
during this financial year.  The total value of this was not reported in 
previous months in error.  Some of the savings being used to offest 
salary under the YWSG which was cut this year.  £19k already moved to 
vacancy (month 4 and month 6).  Remainder to be moved periodically 
throughout the rest of the year.  Also income from Flying Start which was 
not estimated.

No further action

17 Individual Schools Budget (ISB) 88 0.23 Additional costs associated with the LRB and review from September 
2018.  This cost has been offset by a saving of 383 hours per week in the 
Enhanced provision budget circa £124k.

Continued monitoring

18 Facility Time 51 318.75 A report was agreed at council on the 24th October to fund two school 
trade union posts.

Continued monitoring

19 Breakfast Clubs 50 100.00 Breakfast club efficiency unlikely to be met during 2018/19. Continued monitoring

20 Building Maintenance 32 68.09 Failed to meet 2016/17 budget reduction of 20%.   Budget is funding 
statutory Repair & Maintenance, Asbestos surveys/removals and 
electrical testing.

Continue to monitor.  A growth request will be 
required for 2019/20.

21 Enhanced Provision (1-1 LSA's) 421 36.23 Additional Enhanced Provision support has been made by the Additional 
Learning Need (ALN) Clearing Panel as a result of an increase in 
identification of ALN within schools.  As at April 2019 3,157 hours a week 
have been alloacted. This was a 62% increase from the previous year. 

Reduction from month 4 as children have been placed in the new LRB 
provisions, 383 hours per week from Septermber 2019.

Chief Officer has been invited to Budget Board in 
January to give update.

22 Enhanced Provision (Behaviour Support) -36 -20.57 Vacant post within the Behaviour Support Team held to offset the 
overspend in Enhanced Provision.

No further action

23 Special Needs Advisory  Teachers 26 22.61 Education Department agreed to fund a School Nurse at Greenfield 
School from Septmber 2018.

Continued monitoring

Action Taken to address

P
age 27



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

24 Housing Services 60 12.32 B&B budget projected £80K over the £32K budget (£32K is attributable 
cancellation of invoices that should not have been raised - these were 
invoices issued to homelessness clients for recovery of the shortfall 
between housing benefit awarded and the costs incurred over the 
duration of their stay in B&Bs) - offset by the homelessness prevention 
fund budget of £12K, the Shared Accom budget of £8K, and the Mgmt fee 
under of £11K due to void properties.  Additional costs of £5.3K to make 
amendments to the housing system to comply with Housing Renewal 
policy

An alternative to housing homeless in B&B is being 
pursued - currently assessing a contract with a 
landlord to provide for cheaper accommodation.  
Continue to monitor costs.

25 Transport 58 3.72 Uplift in rates greater than budgeted, net increase in contract prices after 
re-tenders, variations/additional contracts - route to school deemed 
unsafe therefore additional transport required, road works requiring 
alternative transport arrangements for 3 months

Continue to monitor

26 Bereavement Services 104 5,200.00 Fee income is 24% lower than at the same point in 17/18.  Based on this 
fee income is projected to be £111k lower than budget at year-end. 

This is offset by a small projected underspend in expenditure of £7k.

The department is considering proposals to increase 
fees and charges to recover the deficit. 

It is estimated that an increase of approx. 12% would 
be required to meet the deficit, however, the service 
is demand led and as such volumes can vary 
significantly from year-to-year.

If this is not taken forward then budget growth will be 
required for 19/20 onwards.

It's worth noting that the department has also put 
forward a separate proposal to increase fees and 
charges to recover the cost of grounds maintenance 
in the cemeteries.

27 Grounds Maintenance -85 -7.43 Hold on any further expenditure other than committed Continue to monitor
28 Sustainable Waste 95 11.93 The Sustainable Waste Management Grant was reduced by £47k in 

18/19, and further cuts are expected in 19/20. The grant is used to fund 
the kerbside recycling collection service.

Additionally, the agency budget is projected to be overspent by £63k.

The cost of treating food waste is projected to be underspent by £23k.

The MTFP will be revised to reflect the reduction in 
grant funding.

A proposal to reconfigure the recycling collection 
service has been put forward as part of the MTFP 
review, which is expected to reduce the pressure on 
the agency budget.

29 Pentrebach Depot 74 22.36 Unbudgeted security costs of £36k as a result of a series of break-ins. 
This is expected to be a temporary measure.

Repairs to the bailer and sorting line are expected to be £24k over budget.

The MTFP has been revised to reflect the escalating 
repair costs for the bailer and sorting line.

30 Traffic Management -30 -100.00 Hold on any further expenditure other than committed Continue to monitor
31 Planning - Development Control -21 -13.46 Hold on any unnecessary expenditure as part of the spend freeze Continue to monitor & adjust where necessary

Action Taken to address

P
age 28



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 September 2018) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

32 Civil Parking Enforcement 29 100.00 Reduction in income generated from fixed penalty notices partly due to 
Enforcement Officers carrying out cash collection duties

Continue to monitor

33 Procurement -23 -8.65 Purchase card income has increased however a moratorium on spend 
may affect the achievement of the target.

Continue to monitor

34 Legal -45 -18.52 Projection for PCP grant included as approval now received No further action
35 Information Governance -27 -28.72 Additional income from PCP grant & schools SLA No further action
36 Corporate-Other 117 100.00 Costs associated with Pengarnddu, including Security (£103k) and utility 

costs
Continue to monitor, but out of our control

37 Corporate-Legal Fees 48 160.00 Legal fees relating to Ffos y Fran Continue to monitor, but out of our control

Action Taken to address

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Capital Monitoring Report 2018/19 – Quarter 2 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report details the capital expenditure and financing position for the Period 
Ended 30th September 2018 for both core and externally funded capital projects.

1.2 The report details the capital expenditure position for the period 1st April 2018 to 
30th September 2018, together with expenditure projections for the 2018/19 financial 
year.

1.3 An underspend of £159,000 is projected for both core and grant funded projects for 
the 2018/19 financial year based on the financial position as at 30th September 2018, 
which is the end of the second quarter

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1 The Capital Monitoring Report for the second quarter of 2018/19 be noted.

2.2 Approval be given to the budget amendments for core funded projects as outlined in 
4.1 below.

2.3 The requirement for Officers to continue to rigorously monitor budgets to ensure that 
expenditure remains within approved budgets be noted.

2.4 The requirement for Chief Officers to scrutinise project delivery to ensure 
expenditure remains within approved budgets be noted.

Date Written 7th November 2018
Report Author Adele Lewis
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st November 2018

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Core Capital Programme as agreed at the Cabinet of 25th July 2018 for the 
2018/19 financial year totalled £11.202 million and was financed through General 
Capital Funding received from the Welsh Government, unsupported borrowing 
through the Prudential Code framework and the utilisation of capital receipts from 
fixed asset disposals.

3.2 Details in respect of core funded projects are outlined in Appendix 1. 

3.3 The Council is in the process of securing additional funding through external grants, 
mainly from the Welsh Government and Heritage Lottery Fund totalling £2.849 
million for the 2018/19 financial year.  Details in respect of grant/externally funded 
projects are outlined in Appendix 2.  

4.0 CORE FUNDED PROJECTS

4.1 Amendments to the budgets of core funded projects, included in appendix 1, are 
required as follows –

 Ysgol–Y–Graig – Re-profiling of the scheme as at October 2018 assumes a 
reduction in core funding of £388,000 in comparison to the November 2017 
profile reported at quarter 1.

 Dowlais Learning Resource Base – An additional £30,000 has been 
requested to be brought forward from the 2019/20 allocation to complete 
additional ground works and the play area.

 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area – It has been requested that £200,000 of the total 
budget is made available for emergency capital works to the Cyfarthfa Leat. 

 A virement of £18,000 from the Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP)/City Deal 
Programme to the Town Centre Regeneration Programme in order to support 
building developments.

 Bus Station and Shopping Centre Redevelopment – External funding for the 
scheme has not been secured and a request to roll forward the core allocation 
of £250,000 into 2019/20 in support of securing match funding has been 
made. 

 Taff Bargoed Area – A regeneration strategy is currently being developed 
resulting in the need to re-profile the original budget allocated.  A roll forward 
of £150,000 from this financial year into 2019/20 is therefore requested.

 Riverside Phase 3 – There is a potential liability for £178,000 for home loss 
payments.  No payments have been made to date so a roll-over of £89,000 
(50%) into 2019/20 has been reflected.

Page 32



 Highway Drainage Schemes – It is requested that £25,000 of highway 
drainage schemes originally planned for this year be rescheduled into 
2019/20.

 Pont Cefn Bridge Repairs/Drainage Replacement Schemes - Due to the 
current shortage of engineering resource (staff) the schemes have been re-
profiled and a rollover of the full budget allocations into 2019/20 has been 
requested. 

 Recent heavy rain and flooding resulted in the collapse of a retaining wall at 
Ffynon Dwyn and significant damage to sections of the road at Pontsarn. 
Estimated replacement costs are included within appendix 1. 

 Cefn Cemetery – External funding from Welsh Government (WG) has yet to 
be agreed resulting in significant delay to the scheme.  It is now unlikely that 
any works will take place during this financial year and a roll-over of budget of 
£200,000 into 2019/20 is requested.

 Pengarnddu – Site clearance works have not commenced as early in the 
financial year as anticipated and so a roll-over of budget of £500,000 from 
2018/19 into 2019/20 is required.

4.2 The above amendments will result in a reduction in capital finance requirements of 
£1.483 million for this financial year as detailed in Appendix 1 although it should be 
noted that additional burdens will be experienced in future years.

4.3 Appendix 1 shows that £4.121 million of capital expenditure has been incurred on 
core financed projects up to 30th September 2018.  Capital expenditure tends to be 
weighted towards the second half of the financial year.

4.4 The 21st Century Programme funding profile detailed in Appendices 1 and 2 are as 
per the submission made to Welsh Government on 23rd October 2018.  Approval has 
been given to the re-profile.

4.5 There are currently no contributions to the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal included 
within this report, this will be reported during the year as details are known.

5.0 OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS

5.1 Other capital projects totalling £2.849 million funded from a variety of external capital 
grants together with the related financing profiles are detailed in Appendix 2.  It 
should be noted that the funding is in varying stages of approval by the awarding 
bodies and has not been secured in all cases.

5.2 Available capital grants of £7.147 million were reported as of 30th June 2018. 
Explanation for the major variances in grant funding between this and the position as 
of 30th September 2018 are due to reductions in external funding for Physical 
Regeneration Projects as the projects are no longer to be commenced in the 
2018/19 financial year.

Page 33



5.3 Utilisation of each individual grant is defined by detailed prescriptive terms and 
conditions specific to that grant, including eligibility for carry over to the following 
financial year.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 An underspend of £159,000 is projected for both core and grant funded projects for 
the 2018/19 financial year based on the financial position as at 30th September 2018, 
which is the end of the second quarter.

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4  0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the capital budgets support the Council to achieve its 
Well-being Objectives through its Capital Programme.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 34



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Capital Budget 
Monitoring Reports

 
September 2018 Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 35



Capital Monitoring Statement 2018/19 Appendix 1
(For the period Ended 30th September 2018)

Core Funded Projects Budget
Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2018/19

Projected 
outturn 
2018/19

Variance 
2018/19

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education
21st Century Schools Programme 706 (388) 318 40 318 0
Education Other 485 30 515 312 499 (16)

Physical Regeneration Programme 1,260 (400) 860 164 871 11

Riverside 633 (89) 544 97 489 (55)

Engineering & Transport Infrastructure 1,708 64 1,772 983 1,774 2

Housing & Corporate 6,410 (700) 5,710 2,525 5,609 (101)

Total 11,202 (1,483) 9,719 4,121 9,560 (159)

Core Funding Available Budget 
Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2018/19

Projected 
outturn 
2018/19

Variance 
2018/19

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Capital Grant 988 0 988 988 988 0

Supported Borrowing 2,156 (531) 1,625 1,625 1,625 0

Capital Receipts 859 0 859 697 859 0

Unsupported Borrowing 6,737 (952) 5,785 707 5,626 (159)

Capital Contribution Reserve 462 0 462 104 462 0

Total 11,202 (1,483) 9,719 4,121 9,560 (159)

P
age 36



Capital Monitoring Statement 2018/19
(For the period Ended 30th September 2018) Appendix 2

Specified Grant/External Funded Projects
Budget       

£000

Amendment 
to Budget   

£000

Revised   
Budget 
2018/19          

£000

Outturn to 
date 

2018/19 
£000

Projected 
outturn 
2018/9 
£000

Variance 
2018/19 

£000

Education 
21st Century Schools Programme 94 306 400 0 400 0
Education Other 50 0 50 10 50 0

Physical Regeneration Programme 5,901 (4,601) 1,300 7 1,300 0

Housing and Corporate 1,102 (3) 1,099 598 1,099 0

Total 7,147 (4,298) 2,849 615 2,849 0

Specific Grant/Other Funding Available
Budget      

£000

Amendment 
to Budget   

£000

Revised   
Budget 
2017/18          

£000

Outturn to 
date 

2017/18 
£000

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18 

£000

Variance 
2017/18 

£000

Welsh Government (WG) 4,658 (3,197) 1,461 606 1,461 0

Integrated Care Fund 79 0 79 0 79 0

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) 721 (221) 500 0 500 0

Welsh Government (WG)/Other 400 (400) 0 0 0 0

Welsh Government (WG)/Heritage Lottery Fund 
(HLF)/Private 1,280 (480) 800 0 800 0

Other contributions 9 0 9 9 9 0

Total 7,147 (4,298) 2,849 615 2,849 0

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Risk Management Progress Report and 
Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The report provides information regarding the Council’s Annual Risk 
Management Progress and the proposed updated Corporate Risk Register for 
2018-19. Audit Committee considered and agreed this report on 29th October 
2018.

1.2 As expected all eight of the Corporate Risks in the Corporate Risk Register for 
2017-18 have remained as Corporate Risks for 2018-19.

1.3 The following new Corporate Risks has been added to the Corporate Risk 
Register for 2018-19:

-  The risk that Brexit will have an adverse economic impact at the national 
and local level that will in turn have a negative financial, strategic and 
legislative impact on the Council, and subsequently the delivery of public 
services.

1.4 The report demonstrates how the Council has continued to embed the Risk 
Management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 in its Corporate Risk Management Framework.

Date Written 29th October 2018
Report Author Kerry O’Donovan
Service Area Strategic Support Services 
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st November 2018

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



1.5 To support the Council in taking well managed risks the Council has adopted 
the 4 T’s best practice process as part of its Corporate Risk Management 
Framework, which are:

- Tolerate the risk;
- Treat/Manage the risk;
- Transfer the risk; and
- Terminate the risk.

1.6 The Council’s Corporate Risk Management arrangements described within 
the Annual Progress Report have continued to mature and strengthen the 
Council’s Risk Governance arrangements by:

- Supporting the delivery of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider 
Council Priorities through the identification, assessment and management of 
the Council’s Corporate Risks.
- Ensuring that Risk Management remains strategically focused at the 
Council.
- Illustrating a clear high level commitment to Risk Management from 
Corporate Management Team and Councillors.
- Adopting the 4 T’s best practice process as part of the Council’s Corporate 
Risk Management Framework.
- Embedding Risk Management across the Council.
- Clear accountability and ownership.
- Transparency in the review of risks.
- Continuing to consider the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

1.7 The report is supplemented by the following appendices:

-  Appendix 1 - Council’s Annual Risk Management Progress Report.
-  Appendix 2 - Council’s proposed Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2018- 
   19.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19 be approved, and the progress 
made in developing Risk Management be noted. 

2.2 Cabinet notes the continued progress made in considering the Risk 
Management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 and the Council adopting the 4 T’s of Risk Management.

 
2.3 It is noted that Audit Committee will invite Lead Corporate Management Team 

Officers to attend the Committee on a rolling programme basis to report on 
progress in managing their Corporate Risks. 

2.4 The proposals to continue to present highlight reports on the Corporate Risk 
Register to Cabinet be noted.

Page 40



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 It was previously agreed at the Council meeting of 7th March 2007 that 
Elected Members should receive Risk Management Progress Reports via 
Cabinet and Audit Committee. This is the eleventh Annual Risk Management 
Progress Report.

3.2 Audit Committee considered and agreed this report on 29th October 2018. 
Audit Committee: 

 Has agreed to invite Lead Corporate Management Team Officers to attend 
the Committee on a rolling programme basis to report on progress in 
managing their Corporate Risks. 

 Noted the proposals to continue to present highlight reports on the 
Corporate Risk Register to Cabinet.

3.3 Ultimate responsibility for Risk Management within the Council rests with all 
Elected Members of the Council, whilst Cabinet is allocated responsibility for 
overseeing Risk Management.

3.4 In summary, Elected Members role are to:

 Oversee the effective management of risk by Officers and Cabinet 
Members of the Council.

 To gain an understanding of Risk Management and its benefits.

 Consider the risks associated with proposals put forward in committee 
reports when making decisions recommended within the reports.

 Require Officers and Cabinet Members to develop and implement an all-
encompassing approach to Risk Management.

 Be responsible for effective governance in the delivery of services to the 
local community.

 Take a full part in the Corporate Risk Management Process as members 
of the service management meetings, Scrutiny, Audit Committee, Cabinet 
meetings and Full Council meetings.

3.5 The role of the Audit Committee in relation to Risk Management is to:

 Provide a high-level focus on assurance and the Council’s arrangements 
for governance, managing risk and maintaining an effective control 
environment.

 Consider the effectiveness of the Council’s Risk Management 
arrangements.

 Seek assurances that actions are being taken on risk.

Page 41



4.0 COUNCIL’S ANNUAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRESS 
REPORT

4.1 The Council’s Annual Progress Report on implementing Risk Management is 
attached as Appendix 1. Some of the key points to note include:

 Risk Management is an integral part of the Strategic Support Services 
Strategy on a Page, the Objective of which is to deliver and support the 
Change and Well-being Programme, enabling calculated risks to be taken 
by applying the sustainable development principles.

 The Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of its risk identification 
process. This aims to ensure that risk identification is undertaken in a 
structured way to help ensure that all potential categories of risk are 
considered rather than just the initial risks that come to mind.

The Checklist is based on the widely used PESTLE Model (Political, 
Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and Environmental).

 The Council has continued to embed the Risk Management requirements 
of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in its Corporate 
Risk Management Framework through its:

o PESTLE Model.
o (5 x 5) Risk Matrix.
o Risk Registers.
o Project Management Framework.

This is discussed in more detail in the Annual Report in Appendix 1.

 To support the Council in taking well managed risks the Council has 
adopted the 4 T’s best practice process as part of its Corporate Risk 
Management Framework, which are:

o Tolerate the risk;
o Treat/Manage the risk;
o Transfer the risk; and
o Terminate the risk.

This helps the Council to focus its resources on those risks that need to be 
managed

 Progress on the management of the Council’s Corporate Risks was 
presented to Audit Committee on 14th May and 9th July 2018.

 A Highlight Report for the Corporate Risk Register for 2017-18 (as at 31st 
March 2018) was considered and approved by Cabinet on 20th June 2018.

Page 42



 Each Chief Officer and Head of Service has a Risk Register in place. 
These Risk Registers have been reviewed and updated for 2018-19, in 
line with the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 As part of the review of the Council’s Corporate Risk Register, Risk 
identification workshops were held for Corporate Management Team on 
25th September and for Cabinet on 26th September 2018. Feedback from 
the Cabinet Risk Workshop was presented to Corporate Management 
Team on 9th October 2018.

 Staff and Councillors have undertaken refresher Risk Management 
training through the Council’s eLearning Module that has been developed 
in partnership with Bob's Business. Along with Risk Management the 
Council uses Bob’s Business to provide eLearning training to staff and 
Councillors on information/cyber security and Data Protection. The training 
is run over the course of a financial year.

The Risk Management eLearning Module addresses the importance of 
Risk Management and illustrates how it supports an organisation in 
achieving its objectives.

 In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 the Council has developed an Integrated Impact 
Assessment. The Integrated Impact Assessment aims to support the 
Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering and monitoring 
services in line with the sustainable development principles and how it is 
seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-
being of Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future generations.

The Integrated Impact Assessment, which was approved by Cabinet on 
26th September 2018, has replaced the Council’s Equality Impact 
Assessment process.

The Integrated Impact Assessment has been rolled out for Council and 
Cabinet Reports from 24th October 2018 onwards.

Implementation of the Integrated Impact Assessment will ensure that risk 
is taken into account appropriately by enabling the identification of 
opportunities (positive impacts) and/or threats (negative impacts). This 
includes identifying actions that have been/will be taken to better 
contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

 The Council has a Programme Risk Log in place as part of its Change 
and Well-being Programme. Programme risks and issues are reviewed 
and monitored on a quarterly basis as part of the risk governance 
arrangements of the Change and Well-being Programme.

 The Council has a Procurement Toolkit to help service departments and 
staff when procuring goods and services. Risk Management is an integral 
part of this Toolkit and will better position Procurement to manage 

Page 43



stakeholder expectations, and facilitate outcomes that are within the risk 
tolerance of the Council. There are many benefits to ensuring that Risk 
Management is embedded into the Procurement process, for example:

o Smarter procurement decisions – achieving both financial and non-
financial benefits.

o Fewer surprises; better identification and achievement of stakeholder 
expectations through acknowledgement of risks. 

o Better procurement outcomes for buyers and suppliers, satisfying the 
commercial and relationship needs of both parties.

 The Council’s Corporate Risk Management arrangements described 
within the Annual Progress Report have continued to mature and 
strengthen the Council’s Risk Governance arrangements by:

o Supporting the delivery of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and 
wider Council Priorities through the identification, assessment and 
management of the Council’s Corporate Risks.

o Ensuring that Risk Management remains strategically focused at the 
Council.

o Illustrating a clear high level commitment to Risk Management from 
Corporate Management Team and Councillors.

o Adopting the 4 T’s best practice process as part of the Council’s 
Corporate Risk Management Framework.

o Embedding Risk Management across the Council.
o Clear accountability and ownership.
o Transparency in the review of risks.
o Continuing to consider the Risk Management requirements of the Well-

being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

5.0 CORPORATE RISK REGISTER FOR 2018-19

Corporate Management Team and Cabinet Risk Identification Workshops

5.1 As mentioned above, part of the review of the Council’s Corporate Risk 
Register included Risk Identification Workshops that were held for Corporate 
Management Team on 25th September and for Cabinet on 26th September 
2018. Feedback from the Cabinet Risk Workshop was presented to Corporate 
Management Team on 9th October 2018.

5.2 The objectives of the Corporate Management Team Risk Identification 
Workshop were as follows:

 To identify and risk score the most significant Corporate Risks that could 
impact on the Council and/or Community.

 To agree risk responses for each Corporate Risk using the 4 T’s best 
practice process, which are: 

o Tolerate the risk; 
o Treat/Manage the risk,
o Transfer the risk; and
o Terminate the risk.

Page 44



 To agree the Lead Corporate Management Team Officer and Lead 
Councillor / Cabinet Member for each Corporate Risk.

5.3 The objectives of the Cabinet Risk Identification Workshop were as follows:

 Consider the Corporate Risks identified by Corporate Management Team.
 Review the risks identified at the Councillor Risk Workshop in December 

2017.
 Identify any additional risks as per each Portfolio.

5.4 The Corporate Risk Register was reviewed in the Risk Workshops by:

 Re-appraising the Corporate Risks in the Council’s Corporate Risk 
Register for 2017-18 to determine if they were still Corporate Risks for 
2018-19.

 Agreeing risk responses for each Corporate Risk (4T’s).
 Agreeing the Lead Corporate Management Team Officer & Lead 

Councillor / Cabinet Member for each Corporate Risk.
 Considering if there were any new Corporate Risks facing the Council 

and/or community.

Analysis of Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19

5.5 As expected all eight of the Corporate Risks in the Corporate Risk Register for 
2017-18 have remained as Corporate Risks for 2018-19. These are common 
long term cross cutting risks that will face this and other Councils going 
forward.

5.6 The following new Corporate Risk have been added to the Corporate Risk 
Register for 2018-19:

Description of Risk Risk Cause
Brexit
The risk that Brexit will have an 
adverse economic impact at the 
national and local level that will in 
turn have a negative financial, 
strategic and legislative impact on 
the Council, and subsequently 
the delivery of public services.

1. Unforeseen financial pressures.
2. Decisions and changing forecasts by 

UK and Welsh Governments to 
reduce funding for Councils.

3. Over reliance on grant funding to 
develop and deliver key regeneration 
projects and programmes.

4. Change in national and regional 
funding programmes and policies 
relating to economic development 
functions. 

5. Challenge of balancing public service 
delivery against austerity measures.

6. Changes/new legislation and 
regulations e.g. Enactment of 
significant legislation which materially 
impacts the way that the Council 
operates.

Page 45



5.7 The risks that were reviewed and identified at the Cabinet risk workshop will 
continue to be managed and monitored as part of the Chief Officers and 
Heads of Service Risk Registers that are in place across the Council. Any new 
risks that were identified by Councillors that are not currently recorded in a 
Risk Register will be added to the relevant Chief Officer/Head of Service Risk 
Register.

5.8 Each Corporate Risk in the Corporate Risk Register has been allocated a Risk 
Type, Lead Corporate Management Team Officer and Lead 
Councillor/Cabinet Member. The table below provides a summary of the 
Corporate Risk Register for the nine Corporate Risks, in terms of risk number, 
type and description. The Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19 is available in 
Appendix 2.

Risk 
No.

Risk Type Description of Risk

1 Finance The risk that the Council does not balance the 
budget and is not financially sustainable.

2 Reputation The risk that the Council fails to maintain and 
protect its reputation.

3 Cyber Attack The risk that the Council is exposed to a cyber 
attack that could cause a catastrophic failure.

4 School 
Attainment

The risk that all learners do not perform at 
expected levels.

5 Capacity The risk that the Council loses staff with the skills 
and capacity to deliver on key outcomes and 
targets.

6 Governance The risk that the Council does not meet statutory 
requirements, laws and regulations.

7 Brexit The risk that Brexit will have an adverse economic 
impact at the national and local level that will in turn 
have a negative financial, strategic and legislative 
impact on the Council, and subsequently the 
delivery of public services.

8 Safeguarding The risk that the Council does not fulfil its statutory 
obligations and the Council’s safeguarding 
arrangements fail to safeguard children, adults and 
Council staff.

9 Performance The risk that the Council's statutory regulators 
issue a formal recommendation to the Council for 
improvement.

6.0 NEXT STEPS

6.1 In order to provide Corporate Management Team, Council, Cabinet and Audit 
Committee with a level of assurance that the Council’s Corporate Risks are 
being managed the following steps will be undertaken:

Page 46



 As in previous years, Lead Corporate Management Team Officers will 
continue to be invited to Audit Committee on a rolling programme basis to 
report on progress in managing the Corporate Risks they are responsible 
for monitoring and managing.

 Highlight reports on the Corporate Risk Register will continue to be 
presented to Cabinet, as well as continuing the current arrangements with 
Audit Committee.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

7.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report although 
good Risk Management supports sound financial management and helps 
maximise financial resources and minimise losses. Any financial implications 
arising from this process will be reported to Cabinet/Council as appropriate, 
including potential options for funding.

8.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10

4. Biodiversity 1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1

Summary:

The Council’s Annual Risk Management Progress Report and updated Corporate 
Risk Register for 2018-19 positively impacts on the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives, sustainable development principles, protected characteristics 
(including Welsh language) and biodiversity. 

The Council’s Corporate Risk Register allows the Council to focus on managing 
and mitigating the most significant Corporate Risks that could impact on the 
organisation and/or community, whilst the Council’s Corporate Risk Management 

Page 47



arrangements described within the Annual Progress Report have continued to 
mature and strengthen the Council’s Risk Governance arrangements. This 
includes the Council continuing to embed the Risk Management requirements of 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in its Corporate Risk 
Management Framework. 

No negative impacts have been identified.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

GOVERNANCE,
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in 
respect of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 48



APPENDIX 1 

ANNUAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT PROGRESS 
REPORT FOR 2017-18 AND 
CORPORATE RISK 
REGISTER FOR 2018-19

 

 

Page 49



SECTION 1

ROLE OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICE

1.1 The Outcome (What do we want to achieve?) for the Risk Management 
Service is the provision of a Corporate Risk Management Service which 
promotes and integrates Risk Management across the Council so that threats 
and opportunities are identified, evaluated, managed and monitored that could 
impact on: 

 Delivering the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider Council 
Priorities.

 The well-being of our communities and future generations.
 The organisation (MTCBC).

1.2 Risk Management is an integral part of the Strategic Support Services 
Strategy on a Page, the Objective of which is to deliver and support the 
Change and Well-being Programme, enabling calculated risks to be taken by 
applying the sustainable development principles.

1.3 Key components of the Strategic Support Services Strategy on a Page are to:

 Provide an environment, and support a culture, where calculated risks can 
be taken to deliver change.

 Manage Corporate Risk by effective monitoring and support in the 
development and delivery of action plans.

1.4 The Tasks for the Risk Management Service are as follows:

Tasks Support the monitoring and management of the Council’s 
Corporate Risk Register and Chief Officer and Service Risk 
Registers which are actively used by the Council and each 
Service in order to prioritise the risks to be managed and the 
actions required to manage those risks.

Tasks Progress in managing Corporate Risks is reported to Audit 
Committee.

Tasks Present Corporate Risk Register Highlight Reports to Cabinet.
Tasks Continue to develop a clear understanding and knowledge of 

Risk Management so that Corporate Management Team and 
Councillors continue to recognise and incorporate Risk 
Management as part of their role.

Tasks Embed Risk Management across the Council through 
Performance Management and Business Planning, Financial 
Management, Programme/Project Management, Procurement 
and Partnerships.

Tasks Play a key role in the production of the Council’s Annual 
Governance Statement.

Tasks Continue to consider the Risk Management requirements of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

Page 50



SECTION 2

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015

PESTLE Model

2.1 The Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of its risk identification 
process. This aims to ensure that risk identification is undertaken in a 
structured way to help ensure that all potential categories of risk are 
considered rather than just the initial risks that come to mind.

2.2 The Checklist is based on the widely used PESTLE Model (Political, 
Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and Environmental).

2.3 The PESTLE Model also reflects other areas of risk in relation to partnerships, 
procurement and reputation, and also includes Culture to ensure the Council 
considers risk from an environmental, social, economic and cultural well-being 
perspective in line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act).

2.4 The five ways of working (Long Term, Integration, Involvement, Collaboration 
and Prevention) are also included in the PESTLE Model to ensure they are 
considered when developing risk action plans.

2.5 The PESTLE Model also forms part of the Council’s Project Management 
Framework.

Council’s (5 x 5) Risk Matrix

2.6 The Council’s (5 x 5) Risk Matrix that it uses to assess risks in terms of 
‘Impact’ and ‘Likelihood’ also reflect the requirements of the Act in terms of 
considering potential impacts on the well-being of communities and future 
generations.

Council’s Corporate Risk Register and Chief Officer/Heads of Service 
Risk Registers

2.7 The Council’s Corporate Risk Register and Chief Officer/Heads of Service 
Risk Registers also consider the requirements of the Act as follows:

 Risks are considered from a community and organisational perspective in 
terms of assessing the risk impact on:

o The well-being of our communities and Future Generations (Social, 
Economic, Environmental and Cultural Well-being)

o Risk Impact on the Organisation.
 Considering if risks are short, medium and/or long term.
 Consideration of the five ways of working (the Sustainable Development 

Principles) when identifying the controls and further actions to manage the 
risks and issues.

Page 51



SECTION 3

4 T’S OF RISK MANAGEMENT

4 T’s

3.1 To support the Council in taking well managed risks the Council has adopted 
the 4 T’s best practice process as part of its Corporate Risk Management 
Framework, which are:

 Tolerate the risk;
 Treat/Manage the risk;
 Transfer the risk; and
 Terminate the risk.

3.2 This helps the Council to focus its resources on those risks that need to be 
managed. For example, it has been agreed that each of the Council’s 
Corporate Risks need to be treated; therefore each Corporate Risk has a 
dedicated risk action plan to manage the Council’s Corporate Risks.

3.3 The 4 T’s process has also been embedded in the Council’s Project 
Management Framework.

 
3.4 In addition to this, as part of the Council’s Project Management Framework 

Project Managers are also required to identify the benefits (advantages) and 
consequences (disadvantages) for each project/change, which further 
supports the Council in taking well managed risks.

Page 52



SECTION 4

CHIEF OFFICER AND HEADS OF SERVICE RISK REGISTERS

Risk Registers

4.1 Each Chief Officer and Head of Service has a Risk Register in place. These 
Risk Registers have been reviewed and updated for 2018-19, in line with the 
Risk Management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 to consider the following:

 Using the Council’s PESTLE Model, risks and issues have been identified, 
that could impact on:

o Delivering the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider Council 
priorities.

o The well-being of our communities and future generations.
o The organisation (MTCBC).

 Consideration of the response to each risk/issue using the 4 T’s - Tolerate 
the risk; Treat/Manage the risk; Transfer the risk; and Terminate the risk.

 Consideration if the risks and issues are short, medium and/or long term.
 Consideration of the five ways of working (the Sustainable Development 

Principles) when identifying the controls and further actions to manage the 
risks and issues.

Page 53



SECTION 5

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER FOR 2017-18

5.1 The Council’s Corporate Risk Register is an essential part of the 
organisation’s corporate governance arrangements.

5.2 The Corporate Risk Register allows the Council to focus on managing and 
mitigating the most significant Corporate Risks that could impact on the 
organisation and/or community. 

5.3 The Council defines Corporate Risks as follows:

 Significant threats: 

o to the achievement of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and 
wider Council priorities.

o to the well-being of communities and future generations;
o that need to be monitored corporately.

 Potential opportunities that may better enable delivery of:
o the achievement of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider 

Council priorities;
o outcomes for the well-being of communities and future generations.

5.4 The Council’s Annual Risk Management Progress Report and the Updated 
Corporate Risk Register for 2017-18 were presented to Audit Committee on 
8th January and Cabinet on 24th January 2018.

5.5 To provide Council and Cabinet with a level of assurance that the Council’s 
Corporate Risks are being managed, it has been resolved by both Audit 
Committee and Cabinet that:

 Lead Corporate Management Team Officers be invited to attend Audit 
Committee on a rolling programme basis to report on progress in 
managing their Corporate Risks.

5.6 This provides Audit Committee with an opportunity to seek assurance that 
current/existing controls are in place and that further planned actions are 
being implemented by Lead Corporate Management Team Officers to 
manage the Council’s Corporate Risks.

5.7 Progress on the management of the Council’s Corporate Risks was presented 
to Audit Committee on 14th May and 9th July 2018.

Page 54



Highlight Report

5.8 It has also been resolved by Audit Committee and Cabinet that highlight 
reports on the Council’s Corporate Risk Register are presented to Cabinet, as 
well as continuing the current arrangements with Audit Committee.

5.9 The highlight report provides further assurance to Cabinet that controls are in 
place and further actions are being implemented as planned to manage the 
Council’s Corporate Risks that could impact on delivering the Council’s Well-
being Objectives and wider Council priorities, and to ensure that the risk 
exposure to the Council is reduced over time.

5.10 Working with colleagues who have contributed to the management of the 
Council’s Corporate Risks for 2017-18 a highlight report was created for the 
year ending 31st March 2018.

5.11 The highlight report captures the following high level risk information 
supported by the more detailed Corporate Risk Register for 2017-18:

 Risk No.
 Description of Risk.
 Risk Score in the Corporate Risk Register for 2017-18, latest Risk Score 

and direction of travel for each Risk.
 Progress on Actions to Manage Risk (RAG Status).
 Assurance Statement on the Management of Corporate Risks and if any 

Further Actions are Required.
 Lead Corporate Management Team Officer.
 Lead Councillor/Cabinet Member.

5.12 The highlight report was considered and approved by Cabinet on 20th June 
2018.

Analysis of Highlight Report for Corporate Risk Register 2017-18 (as at 
31st March 2018)

5.13 The following table below demonstrates: 

 The number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores have increased, 
decreased or remained the same for 2017-18.

 The % of the Corporate Risks where the Risk Score has reduced for 2017-
18.

Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores have increased 0
Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores have 
decreased.

2

Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores have remained 
the same.

6

Total 8
The % of the Corporate Risks where the Risk Score has reduced. 25%

Page 55



5.14 The Risk Scores for the following two Corporate Risks decreased:

Risk 
No.

Description of Risk Lead 
Corporate 

Management 
Team Officer

Lead 
Officer

3 Finance
The risk that the Council does not 
balance the budget and is not 
financially sustainable.

Chief 
Executive

Chief Finance 
Officer

7 Performance
The risk that the Future 
Generations Commissioner issues 
a formal recommendation to the 
Council on the steps taken to meet 
our Well-being Objectives.

Deputy Chief 
Executive

Corporate 
Management 

Team

5.15 The Risk Scores for the following six Corporate Risks remained the same:

Risk 
No.

Description of Risk Lead 
Corporate 

Management 
Team Officer

Lead 
Officer

1 Cyber Attack
The risk that the Council is 
exposed to a cyber attack.

Deputy Chief 
Executive

Information 
Security Officer

2 Capacity
The risk that the Council loses staff 
with the skills and capacity to 
deliver on key outcomes and 
targets.

Deputy Chief 
Executive

Head of HR

4 Safeguarding
The risk that the Council does not 
fulfil its statutory obligations and 
the Council’s safeguarding 
arrangements fail to safeguard 
children, adults and Council staff.

Chief Officer 
- Social 
Services 
(Statutory 
Director of 

Social 
Services)

Principal 
Safeguarding 

Manager

5 Reputation
The risk that the Council fails to 
maintain and protect its reputation.

Deputy Chief 
Executive

Corporate 
Communications, 

Consultation & 
Engagement 

Manager
6 School Attainment

The risk that all learners do not 
perform at expected levels.

Chief Officer 
(Learning)

Senior Challenge 
Adviser / 

Head of School 
Planning & 

Improvement

Page 56



Risk 
No.

Description of Risk Lead 
Corporate 

Management 
Team Officer

Lead 
Officer

8 Governance
The risk that the Council does not 
meet statutory requirements, laws 
and regulations.

Chief 
Executive

Monitoring Officer

5.16 It is important to note that the Likelihood Scores for Corporate Risk Numbers 
1, 2, 4, 5, 6 and 8 in the table above remained a Likelihood Score of 3 (which 
is possible) during the year. It will always be possible for these risks to occur, 
and for this reason, they require constant monitoring and management by 
Corporate Management Team, particularly during the financial climate the 
Council is currently operating in and the scale of cuts that are expected in 
future years.

IT IS IMPORTANT TO NOTE THAT THE LIKELIHOOD SCORES FOR 
CORPORATE RISK NUMBERS

2, 3, 4, 5 AND 6 IN THE TABLE ABOVE REMAINED A LIKELIHOOD 
SCORE OF 3 (WHICH IS

POSSIBLE) DURING THE YEAR. IT WILL ALWAYS BE POSSIBLE FOR 
THESE RISKS TO OCCUR,

AND FOR THIS REASON, THEY REQUIRE CONSTANT MONITORING 
AND MANAGEMENT BY

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT TEAM, PARTICULARLY DURING THE 
FINANCIAL CLIMATE THE

COUNCIL IS CURRENTLY OPERATING IN AND THE SCALE OF CUTS 
THAT ARE EXPECTED IN

FUTURE YEARS.
IMPORTANT TO NOTE THAT THE LIKELIHOOD SCORES FOR 

CORPORATE RISK NUMBERS
2, 3, 4, 5 AND 6 IN THE TABLE ABOVE REMAINED A LIKELIHOOD 

SCORE OF 3 (WHICH IS
POSSIBLE) DURING THE YEAR. IT WILL ALWAYS BE POSSIBLE FOR 

THESE RISKS TO OCCUR,
AND FOR THIS REASON, THEY REQUIRE CONSTANT MONITORING 

AND MANAGEMENT BY
CORPORATE MANAGEMENT TEAM, PARTICULARLY DURING THE 

FINANCIAL CLIMATE THE
COUNCIL IS CURRENTLY OPERATING IN AND THE SCALE OF CUTS 

THAT ARE EXPECTED IN
FUTURE YEARS. IS IMPORTANT TO NOTE THAT THE LIKELIHOOD 

SCORES FOR CORPORATE RISK NUMBERS 2, 3, 4, 5 AND 6 IN 
THE TABLE ABOVE REMAINED A LIKELIHOOD SCORE OF 3 
(WHICH IS POSSIBLE) DURING THE YEAR. IT WILL ALWAYS BE 
POSSIBLE FOR THESE RISKS TO OCCUR, AND FOR THIS 
REASON, THEY REQUIRE CONSTANT MONITORING AND 
MANAGEMENT BY CORPORATE MANAGEMENT TEAM, 
PARTICULARLY DURING THE FINANCIAL CLIMATE THE 
COUNCALE OF CUTS THAT ARE EXPECTED IN FUTURE YEARS.

Page 57



SECTION 6

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER FOR 2018-19

Corporate Management Team and Cabinet Risk Identification 
Workshops

6.1 As part of the Council’s Corporate Risk Management Framework risk 
identification workshops are held for Corporate Management Team and 
Cabinet to identify the most significant Corporate Risks that could impact on 
the Council and/or community.

6.2 Risk identification workshops were held for Corporate Management Team on 
25th September and for Cabinet on 26th September 2018. Feedback from the 
Cabinet Risk Workshop was presented to Corporate Management Team on 
9th October 2018.

6.3 The objectives of the Corporate Management Team Risk Identification 
Workshop were as follows:

 To identify and risk score the most significant Corporate Risks that could 
impact on the Council and/or Community.

 To agree risk responses for each Corporate Risk using the 4 T’s best 
practice process, which are: 

o Tolerate the risk; 
o Treat/Manage the risk,
o Transfer the risk; and
o Terminate the risk.

 To agree the Lead Corporate Management Team Officer and Lead 
Councillor / Cabinet Member for each Corporate Risk.

6.4 The objectives of the Cabinet Risk Identification Workshop were as follows:

 Consider the Corporate Risks identified by Corporate Management Team.
 Review the risks identified at the Councillor Risk Workshop in December 

2017.
 Identify any additional risks as per each Portfolio.

6.5 The Corporate Risk Register was reviewed in the Risk Workshops by:

 Re-appraising the Corporate Risks in the Council’s Corporate Risk 
Register for 2017-18 to determine if they were still Corporate Risks for 
2018-19.

 Agreeing risk responses for each Corporate Risk (4T’s).
 Agreeing the Lead Corporate Management Team Officer & Lead 

Councillor / Cabinet Member for each Corporate Risk.
 Considering if there were any new Corporate Risks facing the Council 

and/or community.

Page 58



Analysis of Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19

6.6 As expected all eight of the Corporate Risks in the Corporate Risk Register for 
2017-18 have remained as Corporate Risks for 2018-19. These are common 
long term cross cutting risks that will face this and other Councils going 
forward.

6.7 The following new Corporate Risk have been added to the Corporate Risk 
Register for 2018-19:

Description of Risk Risk Cause
Brexit
The risk that Brexit will have an 
adverse economic impact at the 
national and local level that will in 
turn have a negative financial, 
strategic and legislative impact on 
the Council, and subsequently 
the delivery of public services.

1. Unforeseen financial pressures.
2. Decisions and changing forecasts by 

UK and Welsh Governments to 
reduce funding for Councils.

3. Over reliance on grant funding to 
develop and deliver key regeneration 
projects and programmes.

4. Change in national and regional 
funding programmes and policies 
relating to economic development 
functions. 

5. Challenge of balancing public service 
delivery against austerity measures.

6. Changes/new legislation and 
regulations e.g. Enactment of 
significant legislation which materially 
impacts the way that the Council 
operates.

6.8 The risks that were reviewed and identified at the Cabinet risk workshop will 
continue to be managed and monitored as part of the Chief Officers and 
Heads of Service Risk Registers that are in place across the Council. Any new 
risks that were identified by Councillors that are not currently recorded in a 
Risk Register will be added to the relevant Chief Officer/Head of Service Risk 
Register.

6.9 Each Corporate Risk in the Corporate Risk Register has been allocated a Risk 
Type, Lead Corporate Management Team Officer and Lead 
Councillor/Cabinet Member. The table below provides a summary of the 
Corporate Risk Register for the nine Corporate Risks, in terms of risk number, 
type and description. The Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19 is available in 
Appendix 2.

Risk 
No.

Risk Type Description of Risk

1 Finance The risk that the Council does not balance the 
budget and is not financially sustainable.

2 Reputation The risk that the Council fails to maintain and 
protect its reputation.

Page 59



Risk 
No.

Risk Type Description of Risk

3 Cyber Attack The risk that the Council is exposed to a cyber 
attack that could cause a catastrophic failure.

4 School 
Attainment

The risk that all learners do not perform at 
expected levels.

5 Capacity The risk that the Council loses staff with the skills 
and capacity to deliver on key outcomes and 
targets.

6 Governance The risk that the Council does not meet statutory 
requirements, laws and regulations.

7 Brexit The risk that Brexit will have an adverse economic 
impact at the national and local level that will in turn 
have a negative financial, strategic and legislative 
impact on the Council, and subsequently the 
delivery of public services.

8 Safeguarding The risk that the Council does not fulfil its statutory 
obligations and the Council’s safeguarding 
arrangements fail to safeguard children, adults and 
Council staff.

9 Performance The risk that the Council's statutory regulators 
issue a formal recommendation to the Council for 
improvement.

6.10 The Corporate Risks for 2018-19 have been categorised in the table below 
and compared to the Corporate Risk Registers for the previous 3 years.

Impact Likelihood Risk 
Score

No of Risks 
for 

2015-16

No of Risks 
for 

2016-17

No of Risks 
for 

2017-18

No of Risks 
for 

2018-19
5 4 20 0 0 1 3
4 5 20 0 0 0 1
4 4 16 0 0 1 3
5 3 15 3 3 3 1
3 5 15 0 0 0 0
4 3 12 3 3 3 1
3 4 12 0 0 0 0
  TOTAL 6 6 8 9

6.11 When comparing the Corporate Risks identified for 2017-18 and 2018-19 the 
following was found:

Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores have 
increased.

6

Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores have 
decreased. 

0

Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores have 
remained the same.

2

Page 60



Number of new Corporate Risks identified. 1
Total 9

6.12 The Corporate Risks that have increased in Risk Score are set below:

Description of Risk
Risk 

Score for 
2017-18

Risk 
Score for 
2018-19

The risk that the Council does not balance the 
budget and is not financially sustainable.

15 20

The risk that the Council fails to maintain and 
protect its reputation.

15 20

The risk that all learners do not perform at 
expected levels.

12 20

The risk that the Council loses staff with the skills 
and capacity to deliver on key outcomes and 
targets.

12 16

The risk that the Council does not meet statutory 
requirements, laws and regulations.

12 16

The risk that the Council's statutory regulators 
issue a formal recommendation to the Council for 
improvement.

8 12

6.13 In line with the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 the Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19 
continues to capture:

 The risk impacts on the well-being of our communities and future 
generations.

 If the risks are short, medium and/or long term.
 Consideration of the five ways of working (the Sustainable Development 

Principles) when identifying the controls and further actions to manage the 
risks and issues.

Page 61



SECTION 7

RISK MANAGEMENT TRAINING

Risk Management eLearning Module

7.1 Staff and Councillors have undertaken refresher Risk Management training 
through the Council’s eLearning Module that has been developed in 
partnership with Bob's Business. Along with Risk Management the Council 
uses Bob’s Business to provide eLearning training to staff and Councillors on 
information/cyber security and Data Protection. The training is run over the 
course of a financial year.

7.2 The Risk Management eLearning Module addresses the importance of Risk 
Management and illustrates how it supports an organisation in achieving its 
objectives. The Module also helps to further develop a clear understanding 
and knowledge of Risk Management across the Council so that Councillors 
and staff recognise and incorporate Risk Management as part of their role.

7.3      The Module covers the following areas and at the end of the training session 
there is a multiple choice quiz:

 An introduction to Risk Management.
 The benefits of Risk Management.
 The key elements of the Risk Management Process.
 The 4 T’s of Risk Management (Tolerate, Treat, Transfer and Terminate).
 Roles and Responsibilities relating to Risk Management.

7.4 ICT accounts are disabled at the end of the financial year for those staff and 
Councillors that do not complete all of the eLearning modules during the year.

Corporate Management Team and Cabinet Risk Identification 
Workshops

7.5 As part of the Corporate Management Team and Cabinet Risk Identification 
Workshops Officers and Councillors are provided with Risk Management 
refresher training to ensure that Corporate Management Team and 
Councillors continue to develop a clear understanding and knowledge of Risk 
Management. This aids when recognising and incorporating Risk 
Management as part of their role.

Page 62



SECTION 8

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Equality Impact Assessments

8.1 In line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 and Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 the Council 
previously had an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process in place. This was a 
mandatory accompaniment to reports on the Council’s Change and Well-being 
Programme, and for Cabinet and Council.

8.2 This demonstrates how Councillors, Report Authors and Project Managers 
considered Equality and Welsh language as part of their decision making.

8.3 The EqIA also enabled report authors to identify any threats (negative impacts) 
and/or opportunities (positive impacts) that could impact on Protected Groups and 
the Welsh language, including identifying any related actions to mitigate any negative 
impacts and/or maximise positive impacts.

Integrated Impact Assessment

8.4 In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 (the Act) the Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). 
The IIA aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering 
and monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principles and how 
it is seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future generations by:

 Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
 Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work could 

have on other services and organisations;
 Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
 Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
 Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

8.5 The IIA incorporates the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable 
Development principles, Equalities, Welsh language and Biodiversity, to support 
effective decision making and ensuring compliance with the following legislation:

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011.
 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.
 Section 6 of Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

8.6 The IIA, which was approved by Cabinet on 26th September 2018, has replaced the 
Council’s EqIA process.

Page 63



8.7 It is important to also note that the IIA is already embedded in the Council’s Project 
Management Framework and has been rolled out for Council and Cabinet Reports 
from 24th October 2018 onwards.

8.8 Implementation of the IIA will:

 Ensure that the sustainable development principles are at the heart of all we do 
and embedded in the governance processes of the Council. 

 Shape what we do, rather than justify what we have decided in the past - the 
shaping of services rather than the justifying of services. 

 Mean a focus up front and throughout the project/policy or decision cycle. 
 Mean better decision making that is transparent and based on evidence.
 Ensure that our decisions impact in a fair way.
 Provide a platform for partnership working.
 Ensure that risk is taken into account appropriately by enabling the identification 

of opportunities (positive impacts) and/or threats (negative impacts). This includes 
identifying actions that have been/will be taken to better contribute to positive 
impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

Page 64



SECTION 9

CHANGE AND WELL-BEING PROGRAMME

9.1 The Council’s Change and Well-being Programme comprises of programmes and 
projects that have been identified from across the Council, to meet the Council’s 
Well-being Objectives and pillars of success e.g. ensuring the Council remains 
sustainable.

9.2 The Change and Well-being Programme is governed by the Change and Well-being 
Programme Board (CWPB). The CWPB is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive. 
The CWPB reviews change programmes and projects and has the authority to call 
on service managers and/or programme/projects managers to challenge and support 
them on the delivery of their programmes/projects.

9.3 The Change and Well-being Programme works alongside the Budget Board to 
address the financial requirements of the Council. The operational delivery of 
identified change and well-being programmes and projects is monitored via the 
Council’s Change and Well-being Steering Group (CWSG).  

9.4 The CWSG provides challenge and support to service managers and, in conjunction 
with the CWPB, hold managers accountable for delivering proposed savings. The 
group comprises of Council officers and is chaired by the Head of Strategic Support 
Services and is made up of staff members from Business Change, Legal, Human 
Resources, Communications, Finance, Equalities, Risk, Welsh language, 
Performance and Consultation. This approach allows the Change and Well-being 
Programme to maintain the pace required for delivery in implementing the required 
change whilst realising financial savings.

9.5 The Terms of Reference for the CWSG includes Change Programme Governance, 
which includes the arrangements for Risk Management as follows:

 The Steering Group owns one or more identified project risks, the management of 
which it will delegate to appropriate persons (e.g. Heads of Service, Team 
Leaders, Programme or Project Managers). The Steering Group will monitor 
risks, and review with the Programme/Project Manager, any change in status and 
agree any action to be taken to mitigate the risks. These risks are documented as 
part of each business case within this programme and monitored under identified 
risk logs.

9.6 The CWSG first met on the 7th January 2014 and meet on a fortnightly basis to 
ensure the required pace of change is maintained. The CWSG receives regular 
reports from service managers responsible for the delivery of the programmes and 
projects. These reports update on delivery against timescales, budget, resources, 
risks and issues. Business cases are presented to the CWSG for challenge prior to 
being presented to the CWPB.

9.7 Change and Well-being Programme risks and issues are logged and reviewed on a 
quarterly basis through a workshop facilitated by the Corporate Risk and Equalities 

Page 65



Manager. A Risk Sub Group review the Programme risks and issues at the quarterly 
workshops, which consists of the Head of Strategic Support Services, Corporate Risk 
and Equalities Manager and Business Change Representatives.

9.8 Following the Risk Sub Group quarterly workshops, the updated Programme Risk 
Log is presented to the CWSG for challenge and Scrutiny following which any 
significant Risks and Issues are escalated to the CWPB for discussion and action.

9.9 It’s also important to highlight that risks and issues are a standing item on the CWPB 
and CWSG Agendas and can be reported directly to the Head of Strategic Support 
Services as required.

Page 66



SECTION 10

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN AND STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018-19 to 2021-22

10.1 As part of the Medium Term Financial Plan Corporate Management Team identified 
service budget reduction proposals for 2018-19. All proposals were risk assessed by 
Chief Officers and Service Managers.

Statement of Accounts 2017-18

10.2 The Council’s Statement of Accounts 2017-18 that were presented to Full Council on 
26th September 2018 included a summary of the Council’s Corporate Risks as at 31st 
March 2018.

Page 67



SECTION 11

PROCUREMENT RISK MANAGEMENT

11.1 The Council has a Procurement Toolkit to help service departments and staff when 
procuring goods and services.

11.2 Risk Management is an integral part of this Toolkit and will better position 
Procurement to manage stakeholder expectations, and facilitate outcomes that are 
within the risk tolerance of the Council. Risk Management, applied effectively, will 
assist Procurement and services to identify changes to the procurement 
environment, implement treatment plans and re-engineer cost effective Procurement 
processes to mitigate risk.

11.3 The consequence of not managing risk effectively can include:

 Discontinuity in the supply of essential goods or services.
 Avoidable increases in project costs and in the unit costs of purchases, both 

immediate and longer term.
 Loss of power and influence in relationships with essential suppliers.
 Procurement outcomes that do not support the Councils’ needs and objectives.
 Opportunity for fraud and corruption.
 Negative impact on reputation in the marketplace.
 Exposure of officers to litigation.
 Failure in corporate governance controls.

11.4 There are many benefits to ensuring that Risk Management is embedded into the 
Procurement process, but there are three that would be almost universally achieved:

 Smarter procurement decisions – achieving both financial and non-financial 
benefits.

 Fewer surprises; better identification and achievement of stakeholder 
expectations through acknowledgement of risks. 

 Better procurement outcomes for buyers and suppliers, satisfying the commercial 
and relationship needs of both parties.

Page 68



SECTION 12

OTHER RISK MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENTS

Audit & Risk Management

12.1 The Council’s Risk Management processes continue to inform Internal Audit work 
and similarly, Internal Audit work has supported the Risk Management 
arrangements. An example of this is where Internal Audit has audited a number of 
Corporate Risks from the Corporate Risk Register in order to provide an independent 
opinion on the management of these critical risks, including the effectiveness of the 
internal controls and further actions.

12.2 The Annual Internal Audit Report for the financial year 2017-18 incorporating the 
Audit Manager’s opinion was produced and reported to the Council’s Audit 
Committee on the 11th June 2018. Based upon the work undertaken during the year 
Internal Audit gave a satisfactory opinion on the internal control environment, risk 
management arrangements and governance arrangements for 2017-18.

Page 69



SECTION 13

RISK GOVERNANCE

13.1 Finally, it is pleasing to report that the Council’s Corporate Risk Management 
arrangements described within this Annual Progress Report have continued to 
mature and strengthen the Council’s Risk Governance arrangements by:

 Supporting the delivery of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider Council 
Priorities through the identification, assessment and management of the 
Council’s Corporate Risks.

 Ensuring that Risk Management remains strategically focused at the Council.
 Illustrating a clear high level commitment to Risk Management from Corporate 

Management Team and Councillors.
 Adopting the 4 T’s best practice process as part of the Council’s Corporate Risk 

Management Framework.
 Embedding Risk Management across the Council.
 Clear accountability and ownership.
 Transparency in the review of risks.
 Continuing to consider the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

Page 70



APPENDIX 2 - SUMMARY OF CORPORATE RISK REGISTER FOR 2018-19 (AS AT SEPTEMBER 2018)

1 Finance

The risk that the Council does 
not balance the budget and is not 
financially sustainable.

1. Failing to deliver the Council's Well-
being Objectives.
2. Adverse impact upon the delivery of 
all public services that the Council 
delivers.
3. The need to further prioritise spend on 
Council services.
4. Reduction in jobs - The Council is a 
large employer in the County Borough 
employing people who live in Merthyr 
Tydfil. Therefore, this risk would have an 
adverse economic impact on families in 
Merthyr Tydfil.
5. People moving out of the area due to 
lack of employment opportunities.

1. The Council is currently in the process of 
delivering options identified through the 
Change and Well-being Programme.
2. Budget Monitoring processes and 
Cabinet/Council/Scrutiny reports. 
3. Budget Board Scrutiny.
4. Change and Well-being Board Scrutiny 
aided by the Change and Well-being 
Steering Group.
5. The continued moratorium on non-
essential expenditure.
6. A meaningful Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) in aligning resources to the 
Well-being Objectives whilst recognising 
the long term implications of future 
generations.
7. Options for delivering savings include 
collaboration and joint working with other 
Local Authorities in continuing to deliver 
priority services within affordable 
resources. 

20 1. Accountancy to further scrutinise budgets 
through the budget monitoring regime.                            
2. Measures agreed by CMT and SLT in 
addressing projected 2018/19 budget 
overspend including:                                       
• Recruitment freeze.                                
• Restriction on expenditure.                
• VER/VR.                                                 
• Implementation of savings proposals.
3. Accountancy to work closely with budget 
managers to aid financial/operational 
understanding.

Chief Finance 
Officer

Councillor
Andrew Barry

8. Engagement with the community 
underpins budget reduction decisions.                            
9. Investment in the preventative agenda is 
considered critical in sustaining high quality 
services whilst providing value for money.    
10. Corporate Management Team 
ownership and resolve.

4. Portfolio Cabinet Members, Chief 
Officers, Heads of Service, Service 
Managers and Service Accountants subject 
to increased accountability through the 
Budget Board and the Change and Well-
being Programme Board whereby delivery 
of services is contained within approved 
budgets and with any projected variances 
subject to further scrutiny.
5. Corporate Management Team has 
initiated monthly Away Days for 2018/19 to 
consider the 2019/20 Budget and beyond in 
ensuring the Council remains financially 
sustainable for the long term.

Risk 
No. Description of Risk

Risk impact on the well-being of our 
communities and Future Generations

(Social, Economic, Environmental and 
Cultural Well-being)

Current / Existing Controls to Manage 
the Risk 

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the controls?

Lead Corporate 
Management 

Team Officer & 
Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Assessment 
of Risk for 

2018-19
Action(s) Required to Manage the Risk 

(Mitigate/Reduce/Increase Risk to an 
Acceptable Level)

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the further 

actions?

P
age 71



2 Reputation

The risk that the Council fails to 
maintain and protect its 
reputation.

1. Additional barrier to delivering the 
Council's Well-being Objectives.
2. Adverse impact on inward investment 
in the County Borough.
3. The public do not engage with the 
Council to help shape service delivery 
across the County Borough.
4. Low levels of community and 
stakeholder participation.
5. Poor public perception and loss of 
confidence in the Council.

1. To change public perception and 
improve the reputation of both the Council 
and Merthyr Tydfil as a whole, the Leader 
and Chief Executive have agreed an annual 
campaign plan to work more closely with 
our community and stakeholders by 
keeping them more informed and better 
engaged.
2. A Communication and Consultation 
Strategy has been developed as a Quality 
Improvement Theme.
3. Reputation Management Action Plan in 
development.
4. An annual Resident's Satisfaction Survey 
will be issued across the County Borough 
to capture views and satisfaction rates on 
a wide range of issues and services 
relevant to Merthyr Tydfil. The results of 
the survey will help to shape future service 
delivery across the County Borough.

20 1. The Communication and Consultation 
Strategy will deliver the following:
• Provide clear leadership, having clarity 
about what the Council stands for and 
making sure it is understood by the whole 
organisation.
• Continue to promote the Council’s brand 
which provides a clear sense of purpose 
and embodies the values.
• Build upon our drive to communicate and 
engage strategically so we have the right 
skills to improve the reputation.
2. Develop a Social Media Strategy to 
boost visibility and customer engagement.
3. Develop an Annual Campaign Plan.
4. Develop an Internal Communication and 
Engagement strategy.
5. Develop an Annual Residents Survey.

Corporate 
Communications, 
Consultation and 

Engagement 
Manager

Cabinet

3 Cyber Attack

The risk that the Council is 
exposed to a cyber attack that 
could cause a catastrophic 
failure.

1. Adverse impact on service delivery.
2. Loss of customer information and 
data.
3. Loss of Council information and data.

1. User training in place.
2. Anti-virus software in place.
3. ISO 27001 compliance.
4. PCI DSS compliance.
5. Patch Management.
6. Annual IT Health Checks carried out.
7. Cyber Essentials.
8. PSN Compliance.

20 1. Further user awareness required.
2. Cyber Essentials compliance.
3. WG Cyber Resilience Funding.
4. Maintain ISO 27001, PSCI DSS and 
PSN compliance.

Deputy Chief 
Executive

Councillor Andrew 
Barry

Lead Corporate 
Management 

Team Officer & 
Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Assessment 
of Risk for 

2018-19
Action(s) Required to Manage the Risk 

(Mitigate/Reduce/Increase Risk to an 
Acceptable Level)

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the further 

actions?

Risk 
No. Description of Risk

Risk impact on the well-being of our 
communities and Future Generations

(Social, Economic, Environmental and 
Cultural Well-being)

Current / Existing Controls to Manage 
the Risk 

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the controls?

P
age 72



4 School Attainment

The risk that all learners do not 
perform at expected levels.

1. Vulnerable children do not attain or 
achieve.
2. Reduction in opportunities for young 
people beyond compulsory education.
3. Negative impact on employment and 
employability rates.
4. Failing to deliver the Council's Well-
being Objectives.

1. Schools are supported and challenged 
to prepare for the introduction of the new 
curriculum and qualifications.
2. School improvement capacity transfer 
from Local Authority and Central South 
Consortium to schools and between 
schools.
3. All schools have adopted an 
appropriate, systematic approach to 
managing attendance/exclusions.
4. Hold Governing Bodies and Head 
Teachers to account for effective 
strategies to address performance - 
standards/attendance.
5. Schools are supported and challenged 
to meet the needs of all pupils.                    
6. Effective arrangements in place to 
monitor and evaluate systematically all 
Additional Learning Needs services 
provided for, or commissioned by the Local 
Authority.                             

20 1. Local Authority Progress Board with 
Governors and Senior Leadership Teams 
where there is most concern.
2. Use Welsh Government Innovation Grant 
to build capacity in schools.
3. Monitoring of new LRB structure 
including Education Other Than at School 
(EOTAS).

Chief Officer 
(Learning)

Councillor Lisa 
Mytton

7. School to School Support is being 
developed to become the effective, 
efficient and economical vehicle for 
securing school improvement.

Lead Corporate 
Management 

Team Officer & 
Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Assessment 
of Risk for 

2018-19
Action(s) Required to Manage the Risk 

(Mitigate/Reduce/Increase Risk to an 
Acceptable Level)

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the further 

actions?

Risk 
No. Description of Risk

Risk impact on the well-being of our 
communities and Future Generations

(Social, Economic, Environmental and 
Cultural Well-being)

Current / Existing Controls to Manage 
the Risk 

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the controls?

P
age 73



5 Capacity

The risk that the Council loses 
staff with the skills and capacity 
to deliver on key outcomes and 
targets.

1. Failing to deliver the Council's Well-
being Objectives.
2. Adverse impact upon the delivery of 
all public services that the Council 
delivers.
3. Reduction in jobs - The Council is a 
large employer in the County Borough 
employing people who live in Merthyr 
Tydfil. Therefore, this risk would have an 
adverse economic impact on families in 
Merthyr Tydfil.
4. People moving out of the area due to 
lack of employment opportunities.

1. Re-structures/redesign to reorganise 
work-projects for change via the Change  
and Well-being Programme.
2. Succession Planning is integrated into 
Workforce and Operational Business 
Planning (aligned to SOAPs).
3. Applying the Redundancy Process and 
Selection Criteria correctly and robustly so 
that the right behaviours as well as skills 
are retained.
4. Redundancy training undertaken by key 
Officers.
5. Individuals are offered training as part of 
the Redeployment Process, where 
required.
6. Business cases for voluntary early 
retirement and voluntary redundancy 
require managers to have a robust 
business case where they demonstrate 
that there is no essential skills loss if the 
employee leaves.

16 1. Review our current Performance 
Management procedures, together with 
focus groups with a view to re-launching in 
2018.
2. Develop Workforce Plans in conjunction 
with relevant Chief Officers and Heads of 
Service Operational Plans and Strategies 
on a Page.
3. Implement Apprenticeship Scheme 
working in partnership with Rhondda Cynon 
Taf County Borough Council.
4. Implement a ‘Grow Our Own’ strategy 
based on scenario and succession planning 
aligned to developing an internal talent pool 
for future roles.
5. Review and evaluate Managers 
Academy and Leadership Programme.
6. Having robust process to redesign the 
Council, challenging existing practices of 
work and exploring new opportunities (i.e. 
shared resources across directorates).

Head of HR

Councillor
Andrew Barry

6 Governance

The risk that the Council does 
not meet statutory requirements, 
laws and regulations.

1. Adverse impact upon the delivery of 
all public services that the Council 
delivers.

1. Chief Officers and Heads of Service 
ensure that staff are fully appraised of their 
statutory responsibilities and any 
subsequent changes to their 
responsibilities.
2. Directorates have identified key 
individuals who will apprise team members 
of any changes to policies, procedures, etc 
and identify key risks.
3. Directorate projects to be managed and 
evaluated to ensure they comply with 
statute / case law seeking corporate 
support where appropriate.

16 1. Chief Officers and Heads of Service to 
maintain appropriate links with the Welsh 
Government, Welsh Local Government 
Association, All Wales Monitoring Officers 
Group, Association of Directors of Social 
Services Cymru, Association of Directors of 
Education in Wales, Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives and Senior 
Managers, County Surveyors’ Society 
Wales, Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy, etc., so that 
there is early awareness of upcoming 
initiatives so as to allow maximum time for 
planning.

Monitoring Officer

Councillor Andrew 
Barry

2. Chief Officers and Heads of Service to 
ensure effective reporting to Members and 
that staff training plans are in place. Such 
changes to be picked up in individual One to 
Ones.

Lead Corporate 
Management 

Team Officer & 
Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Assessment 
of Risk for 

2018-19
Action(s) Required to Manage the Risk 

(Mitigate/Reduce/Increase Risk to an 
Acceptable Level)

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the further 

actions?

Risk 
No. Description of Risk

Risk impact on the well-being of our 
communities and Future Generations

(Social, Economic, Environmental and 
Cultural Well-being)

Current / Existing Controls to Manage 
the Risk 

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the controls?

P
age 74



7 Brexit

The risk that Brexit will have an 
adverse economic impact at the 
national and local level that will in 
turn have a negative financial, 
strategic and legislative impact 
on the Council, and subsequently 
the delivery of public services.

New Corporate Risk identified for 
2018/19.

1. Failing to deliver the Council's Well-
being Objectives.
2. Adverse impact upon the delivery of 
all public services that the Council 
delivers.
3. The need to further prioritise spend on 
Council services.
4. Lack of employment opportunities in 
the County Borough, potential 
redundancies linked to a slower 
economy and a reduction in training 
opportunities for residents strategically 
aligned to regeneration programmes.

1. A Welsh Local Government Association 
Briefing on Brexit has been arranged for 
Corporate Management Team and Cabinet 
that will provide guidance on the key 
implications for Councils and the necessary 
planning required for all scenarios.

16 1. Set up a working group to identify and 
address the implications of Brexit.

Chief Officer 
(Regeneration)  

Leader of the 
Council

Lead Corporate 
Management 

Team Officer & 
Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Assessment 
of Risk for 

2018-19
Action(s) Required to Manage the Risk 

(Mitigate/Reduce/Increase Risk to an 
Acceptable Level)

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the further 

actions?

Risk 
No. Description of Risk

Risk impact on the well-being of our 
communities and Future Generations

(Social, Economic, Environmental and 
Cultural Well-being)

Current / Existing Controls to Manage 
the Risk 

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the controls?

P
age 75



8 Safeguarding

The risk that the Council does 
not fulfil its statutory obligations 
and the Council’s safeguarding 
arrangements fail to safeguard 
children, adults and Council staff.

1. Harm to / or death of children and 
adults caused by abuse or neglect.
2. That we do not meet the outcomes 
set for children and adults we work with.
3. Failing to deliver the Council's 
Priorities in respect of ‘vulnerable 
children in Merthyr Tydfil living healthy, 
safe and fulfilled lives’ and ‘people in 
Merthyr Tydfil being free from poverty, 
being independent and healthy’.
4. Adverse impact on preventative 
services.
5. Well-being impact for staff working in 
safeguarding environment.

1. Safeguarding is a Priority for the Council 
– A Corporate Safeguarding Policy has 
been developed across Cwm Taf and a 
local Corporate Safeguarding Policy was 
agreed at Council in September 2015. 
Safeguarding reference group has been 
set up by the Directorate and a Corporate 
Safeguarding Plan has been developed. 
Safeguarding is also a standing agenda 
item on Corporate Management Team 
Meetings and within Education Meetings.
2. Joint lead agency within the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Children Board (CTSCB) and 
the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adult Board 
(CTSAB) demonstrates leadership in 
accountability for safeguarding. We are 
also engaged well in the domestic abuse 
and Channel Panel fora.

15 1. Continue reporting arrangements during 
2018-19.
2. Report to Council on Practice Reviews 
undertaken for Merthyr Tydfil.
3. Continue to review and monitor relevant 
performance and quality functions.
4. Continue work under the Corporate 
Safeguarding Policy which will include 
ensuring that safeguarding training is 
provided to all Council employees who have 
contact with the public. This will continue to 
be developed as part of the Safeguarding 
Reference Group which will consider the 
communication strategy to raise awareness 
of safeguarding.
5. Continue the work of both Safeguarding 
Boards and the Corporate Safeguarding 
Reference Group.

Chief Officer - 
Social Services 

(Statutory Director 
of Social Services)

Councillor David 
Hughes

3. Active engagement in the sub groups of 
the Cwm Taf Safeguarding boards by 
relevant officers means that we have in 
place:
• Strong partnership working  to share 
information and act to protect – Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub is an example of 
this.
• Robust arrangements for safeguarding 
training.
• Quality assurance, performance 
management and practice review 
processes that allow us to learn and  
improve practice.
• Policies and procedures that guide high 
standards in practice.

Controls continued over the page.

6. Ensure that despite budgetary 
restrictions we can continue to deliver our 
duty to safeguard children and adults at 
risk, and continue to work with colleagues 
and partners to ensure that there is 
effective prevention provision.
7. Continue the work streams across Cwm 
Taf (under the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales)) Act 2014 to review and 
monitor safeguarding procedures.

Lead Corporate 
Management 

Team Officer & 
Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Assessment 
of Risk for 

2018-19
Action(s) Required to Manage the Risk 

(Mitigate/Reduce/Increase Risk to an 
Acceptable Level)

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the further 

actions?

Risk 
No. Description of Risk

Risk impact on the well-being of our 
communities and Future Generations

(Social, Economic, Environmental and 
Cultural Well-being)

Current / Existing Controls to Manage 
the Risk 

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the controls?

P
age 76



4. Governance is via Safeguarding Boards, 
reporting of safeguarding activity to Council 
within the Annual Council Reporting 
Framework (ACRF) and performance 
monitoring systems including reports being 
discussed at Scrutiny and Cabinet.
5. Increased reporting to Scrutiny 
Committee allows for questioning and 
challenge.
6. Education Safeguarding Team in place 
and actions taken to provide guidance and 
advice and hold schools to account e.g. 
through audits of policies and practice 
schools.
7. Via partnership with Voluntary Action 
Merthyr Tydfil (VAMT) and robust contract 
management we have influenced and 
improved the practice of third sector and 
providers for those working with children 
and young people.

8. Strong safeguarding practice underpins 
commissioned service provision.
9. The development of the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub has ensured excellent 
multi agency working at the ‘front door’. 
Merthyr Tydfil provides a safe and robust 
partnership response to new safeguarding 
concerns at Multi Agency Safeguarding 
Hub.

Lead Corporate 
Management 

Team Officer & 
Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Assessment 
of Risk for 

2018-19
Action(s) Required to Manage the Risk 

(Mitigate/Reduce/Increase Risk to an 
Acceptable Level)

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the further 

actions?

Risk 
No. Description of Risk

Risk impact on the well-being of our 
communities and Future Generations

(Social, Economic, Environmental and 
Cultural Well-being)

Current / Existing Controls to Manage 
the Risk 

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the controls?

P
age 77



9 Performance

The risk that the Council's 
statutory regulators issue a 
formal recommendation to the 
Council for improvement.

1. Failing to deliver the Council's Well-
being Objectives.
2. Adverse impact upon the delivery of 
public services that the Council delivers.

External Regulatory Reports - Reporting 
and Monitoring Procedures
1. The Council's Internal Audit Department 
has a working procedure in place for the 
reporting and monitoring of 
recommendations from external regulatory 
reports.
2. Internal Audit record all 
recommendations from external regulatory 
reports on the Council's Audit and 
Inspection Action Plan (AAP) system. 
3. The implementation of the report 
recommendations are then monitored by 
Audit Committee and Corporate 
Management Team.

12 1. Continue internal peer challenge and 
improvement e.g. Estyn Report Findings.
2. Continue scrutiny challenge and working 
with the Wales Audit Office and Future 
Generations Commissioner to test rollout of 
the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015.
3. Continue to review internal governance 
and challenge mechanisms e.g. Budget 
Board.
4. Continue to re-inforce  awareness of 
how the Council’s vision and Well-being of 
Future Generations are linked.
5. Continue to publish the Statement of Well-
being, Focus on the Future: Well-being in 
our Community and Annual Performance 
Report.
6. Review and update the Council’s 
Performance Management Framework.
7. Rollout business planning monitoring 
approach.

Head of Strategic 
Support Services 
and relevant Chief 

Officer

Councillor
Andrew Barry

8. Ensure that the reporting of the Council’s 
updated Well-being Objectives continue to 
form part of Scrutiny Committees, and the 
Council’s Senior Leadership Team and 
Future State meeting agendas.
9. Ensure that the reporting of the Council’s 
updated Well-being Objectives form part of 
meetings at the Council.
10. Embed Integrated Impact Assessment 
across the Council.
11. Finalise and sign off the latest version 
of the Council’s Project Management 
Framework.
12. Roll out the revised Project 
Management Framework for 
implementation.

Lead Corporate 
Management 

Team Officer & 
Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Assessment 
of Risk for 

2018-19
Action(s) Required to Manage the Risk 

(Mitigate/Reduce/Increase Risk to an 
Acceptable Level)

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the further 

actions?

Risk 
No. Description of Risk

Risk impact on the well-being of our 
communities and Future Generations

(Social, Economic, Environmental and 
Cultural Well-being)

Current / Existing Controls to Manage 
the Risk 

Have you applied the five ways of 
working when considering the controls?

P
age 78



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

Date Written 7th November 2018 *
Report Author Sue Walker
Service Area Learning
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st November 2018

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

School Reorganisation – 3 to 16 Voluntary Aided 
School
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 At a meeting on 25th July 2018, Cabinet approved the proposal to commence formal 
consultation on the potential closure of St Aloysius Roman Catholic (RC) Primary, St 
Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High 
School creating a 3-16 all through Catholic education provision with effect from 1st 
September 2019. 

1.2 A 42-day public Consultation was undertaken during the period 3rd September – 14th 
October 2018 and this report details the outcome.

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The information contained within the attached Consultation Report, which includes details 
of correspondence received during the consultation exercise, is noted (Appendix 1).

2.2 The proposal  to close St Aloysius Roman Catholic (RC) Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary 
and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School creating a 3-16 
all through Catholic education provision with effect from 1st September 2019 are 
progressed by issuing an appropriate Statutory Notice, which is in accordance with the 
process outlined in Welsh Government legislative guidance (School Organisation Code 
006/2013).

or
2.3 A further 42-day public consultation is undertaken which names the proposed site for the 

build of the new 3-16 school, starting December 2018.

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Council is responsible for promoting high educational standards and for delivering 
efficient primary and secondary education.  Having the right schools in the right place 
and ensuring that they are fit for the 21st century learner is the challenge facing the 
Council.  Achieving this will involve reviewing the number and type of schools the Council 
has in its area and assessing whether or not best use is being made of resources and 
facilities.

3.2 The Council in conjunction with the Archdiocese has determined to review its Catholic 
faith provision on the basis of:
 educational standards;
 the need for places and the accessibility of schools;
 the quality and suitability of school accommodation; and 
 effective financial management.

3.3 Over the past two years, there has been extensive discussion with officers from the 
Cardiff Archdiocese, local authority officers and school governors from the Catholic 
schools in Merthyr Tydfil regarding the future provision for Catholic education within the 
County Borough.

3.4 The Archdiocese and local authority officers held meetings with all Headteachers and 
Governing Bodies to consider the advantages and practicalities of the proposal.  All 
stakeholders agreed to run the formal consultation process.  

3.5 The proposal, if eventually agreed, will be to close St Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s RC 
Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School creating 
a 3-16 all through Catholic education provision.  This will take effect from 1st September 
2019.  They will continue to provide education on existing sites until such time as the 
proposals for utilising 21st Century Band B monies are agreed by Council.  This proposal 
is aimed at rationalising educational provision across the County Borough in the interests 
of efficiency and effectiveness.

3.6 The new school will have a single governance management structure.  A temporary 
Governing Body for the new school will be set up subject to the outcome of the 
consultation to support the appointment of a substantive Headteacher for September 
2019.

3.7 It is intended to open the 3-16 school on 1st September 2019 on the current schools’ 
sites.

3.8 Following Cabinet approval on 25th July 2018, it was agreed that a 42-day public 
consultation exercise would commence on 3rd September 2018 and close 14th October 
2018.  The purpose of the Consultation was to engage with the community to involve 
them in our decision-making by obtaining their views on the proposal.

Page 80



4.0 PROPOSED NEW SCHOOL

4.1 As part of the Council’s Band B proposals officers will work with the Archdiocese to 
secure a suitable site for the creation of a new, purpose built 3-16 school for all pupils 
from the four schools.

4.2 The proposal to bring the schools together as one, prior to the new build, allows for the 
appointment of a substantive Headteacher who will then be able to work with the new 
Governing Body and be closely involved in the subsequent design and build.

4.3 The proposed new 3-16 all-through school will provide for up to 525 full time primary 
school places, 63 full time equivalent nursery places and 520 secondary school places.

4.4 Ultimately a new school build provides the opportunity to deliver a stimulating teaching 
and learning environment in state of the art, 21st Century facilities that will impact 
positively on the self-esteem and wellbeing of pupils and will aim to improve the learning 
outcomes for all children across the ability range.

4.5 With a new school comes more choices and improved opportunities because there is 
more space and better facilities.  In the Estyn report of 2007, ‘An evaluation of 
performance of schools before and after moving into new buildings or significantly 
refurbished premises’, it is reported that the attainment and achievement of pupils 
improves significantly when they move into new or significantly refurbished buildings, 
particularly when schools are in areas with high levels of social and economic 
deprivation.

4.6 The new school will ensure that pupils have adaptable ICT facilities suitable for learning 
in the 21st century.  Mobile technology will be integrated with a sound pedagogical base 
to provide pupils with enhanced learning experiences, equipping them with the key skills 
and motivation needed to raise standards.

4.7 The new build school will be an exciting place for pupils and staff both internally and 
externally.  It will have spacious, light and airy classrooms, with access to a range of high 
quality and appropriate spaces for social interaction.  The 2015 report ‘Clever 
Classrooms’, found that well designed schools can significantly boost children’s 
academic performance in reading, writing and maths.  The school will allow for the 
delivery of a pupil-centred, inclusive and skills based curriculum that extends to social 
and sporting activities.  It will aim to promote equality and inclusion by providing facilities, 
sporting and cultural, which can be accessed by pupils and which the school can share 
with the community.

4.8 A new build of this kind is a significant investment in the future of the young people of the 
area and clearly signals that the Council and Archdiocese are serious about making 
schools fit for purpose places of learning.  

5.0 CONSULTATION

5.1 The consultation process in respect of this proposal has been undertaken under the 
arrangements outlined in the Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code, 006/2013.  
These arrangements stipulate that a Consultation Report must be prepared prior to the 
publication of any Statutory Notices which will progress the proposal.  

Page 81



5.2 We consulted on the merging of St Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St 
Mary’s RC Primary Schools with Bishop Hedley High School to form a 3-16 voluntary 
aided school located on the schools’ existing sites. 

5.3 The Consultation was held from the 3rd September 2018 to 14th October 2018.  The 
process used for consultation took a varied range of methodologies to ensure as wide a 
response as possible.  This included:

 Consultation meetings at the four affected Catholic schools.  Parents/carers, 
governors and staff were encouraged to come along where they would have the 
opportunity to ask questions and learn more about the proposal.  The Consultation 
meetings were held on:
o St Illtyd’s R.C Primary – 10th September 2018
o St Mary’s R.C Primary – 10th September 2018
o Bishop Hedley R.C High – 11th September 2018 
o St Aloysius R.C Primary – 13th September 2018

Notes of the Consultation meetings are available as a Background Paper.

 An online questionnaire was designed using Smart Survey so people could respond 
electronically.

 Paper questionnaires were made available at each of the Consultation meetings for 
attendees to formally express their views and upon request from Corporate 
Communications.

 A press release was posted on the Council website, plus several messages posted on 
Social Media informing the general public of the Consultation and how to take part.

 Emails containing the Consultation Document, which is available as a Background 
Paper, were sent to the following groups/individuals:

o Merthyr Tydfil Cabinet members and Councillors
o Trade Unions
o Directors of Education in neighbouring Local Authorities (Blaenau Gwent, 

Bridgend, Rhondda Cynon Taff, Powys, Caerphilly and Vale of Glamorgan)
o Estyn
o Member of Parliament
o Assembly Member
o Cabinet Secretary for Education
o Welsh Government
o The College, Merthyr Tydfil
o Central South Consortium Joint Education Service
o Local Police and Crime Commissioner
o Welsh Language Commissioner
o Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG)
o Communities First partners
o Youth Cabinet
o MTCBC’s Transport department
o Archdiocese of Cardiff, The Commissioner for School and Colleges
o Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW)

Page 82



5.4 Further details, including feedback from the public Consultation exercise including a 
response from Estyn, can be found in the Consultation Report attached as Appendix 1.  

6.0 THE STATUTORY PROCESS

6.1 The Statutory Notice for this proposal will be to:

 close St Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary 
Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School creating a 3-16 all through Catholic 
education provision.

6.2 The Statutory Notice will, if agreed, be published on 26th November 2018 and will allow 
for a 28-day period for objections, ending on 9th January 2019.  If any objections are 
received, in accordance with the aforementioned Code, an Objections Report will be 
prepared.  This matter will then be reported to a Cabinet meeting on 16th January 2019 
for consideration by Members and a final decision on the proposal.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

7.1 If this school reorganisation proposal is agreed there is potential to make savings and the 
details of this will be shared with Cabinet at a future date.

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives

1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

 5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language)

3 of 10 0 of 10 7 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the proposal will meet the Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives and the Sustainable Development Principles. The proposal will have a positive effect 
on the ‘Best Start to Life’ Well-being Objective and on three of the protected characteristic 
groups.

There are no negative impacts.

At this stage, in phase one of the proposal, there is neither a positive or negative affect on 
Biodiversity. This may change if/when the proposal moves to phase two (school relocation)

Page 83



SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING)

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Consultation Document August 2018 Learning Department

Minutes of Consultation 
Meetings

Various Learning Department

School Organisation 
Code, 006/2013

July 2013       
https://gov.wales/topics/educationands

kills/publications/guidance/school-
organisation-code/?lang=en

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect of each 
proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 84

https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/school-organisation-code/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/school-organisation-code/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/school-organisation-code/?lang=en


Appendix 1

CONSULTATION REPORT

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE CONSULTATION REPORT 

This report is prepared in accordance with the Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code, statutory 
document 006/2013.  Its purpose is to inform on the outcome of the 42-day public consultation on the 
proposal to create a single 3-16 Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil.  The Consultation was held during 
the period Monday 3rd October - Sunday 14th October 2018 between all stakeholders and interested 
parties listed.

2.0 THE PROPOSAL 

The proposal consulted upon is to create a single 3-16 Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC, St Mary’s RC and also Bishop Hedley RC 
Schools and creating a single, all through 3-16 Catholic education school with effect from 1st September 
2019.

Details of the proposal and the rationale behind it are fully outlined in the Consultation Document that 
was circulated to all the stakeholders listed below and which is attached as Appendix A. 

3.0 WHO DID WE CONSULT WITH? 

A copy of the Consultation Document, which fully outlined and explained our proposal, was sent to the 
following stakeholders:- 

 Merthyr Tydfil Cabinet members and Councillors
 Trade Unions
 Directors of Education in neighbouring Local Authorities (Blaenau Gwent, Bridgend, Rhondda 

Cynon Taff, Powys, Caerphilly and Vale of Glamorgan)
 Estyn
 Member of Parliament
 Assembly Member
 Cabinet Secretary for Education
 Welsh Government
 The College, Merthyr Tydfil
 Central South Consortium Joint Education Service
 Local Police and Crime Commissioner
 Welsh Language Commissioner
 Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG)
 Communities First partners
 Youth Cabinet
 MTCBC’s Transport department
 Archdiocese of Cardiff, The Commissioner for School and Colleges
 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW)

Page 85



Letters were sent to the four affected Catholic schools informing them of the Consultation. 
Parents/carers, governors and staff were invited to attend Consultation meetings where they would 
have the opportunity to ask questions and learn more about the proposal.  The following meetings were 
convened:

Detailed notes of all of the above meetings were taken and are attached as Appendix B.  These notes 
outline all questions raised, comments and statements made with responses provided where 
appropriate.

4.0 THE CONSULTATION PROCESS

All stakeholders listed were sent electronic copies of our Consultation Document.

All other interested parties (parents/carers, governors, school staff and the wider public) were directed 
to the online questionnaire where the Consultation Document was available and where they could 
complete the Online Survey. 

A press release regarding the Consultation was published on our website and was advertised on our 
social media channels. 

Paper questionnaires were made available at the Consultation meetings and could also be requested 
from our Corporate Communications team.

5.0 SUMMARY OF RESPONSES TO CONSULTATION 

Responses received via the Online Survey and at the Consultation meetings have been analysed to 
identify views and concerns, and are summarised below.

In the consultation, the positive responses received include:

Nature of consultation Date/Time Venue

Meeting with parents 10th September 3.20pm St Illtyd’s
Meeting with parents 10th September 4.30pm St Mary’s
Meeting with staff 10th September 5.30pm St Mary’s
Meeting with federated governing body 10th September 6.30pm St Mary’s

Meeting with pupils 11th  September 9.30am Bishop Hedley
Meeting with pupils 11th September 11.00am St Aloysius
Meeting with pupils 11th September 1.00pm St Mary’s
Meeting with pupils 11th September 2.15pm St Illtyd’s
Meeting with parents 11th September 5.30pm Bishop Hedley
Meeting with governors 11th September 6.30pm Bishop Hedley

Meeting with staff 12th September 3.30pm Bishop Hedley

Meeting with parents 13th September 2.30pm St Aloysius
Meeting with staff 13th September 3.30pm St Aloysius
Meeting with governors 13th September 4.30pm St Aloysius

Page 86



 It is a good opportunity for pupils and having a modern school with great facilities is the way 
forward.  Pupils and the wider community will benefit from state of the art facilities.

 It will ensure the future of Catholic education in Merthyr Tydfil, and the new school will become 
the number one Catholic school in the Heads of the Valleys area.  Therefore, it secures the school 
in the long term.

 It would allow for better transition for pupils throughout school – academically and socially. 
“Through teaching” will significantly help our pupils with their education.  Also there will be an 
opportunity to plan for education from Foundation Phase right through to Key Stage 4. 

 Issues faced at the current schools such as school parking and congestion, lack of playing fields, 
extra-curricular activities and outdated facilities can be addressed. 

 It will improve the availability of facilities and resources for primary schools and allow staff to 
work collaboratively to write and embed effective schemes of work.

Concerns raised in the feedback can be broadly summarised into several key areas:

1. Of primary concern to a large proportion of respondents is regarding how the new school will 
work, with specific mention to the layout.  Some respondents are a little unsure of three year 
olds sharing a school with 16 year olds.  Some respondents approve the idea if the primary and 
secondary classes are not in the same area.

2. Some respondents raised concerns regarding the location.  As the location of the new school has 
not been identified at this stage, they felt it was difficult to have a complete view on the 
proposal and say for definite if they are in agreement or not.  Consequently, some respondents 
fear that pupil numbers may drop if the new school is built on a site that isn’t as easy to get to as 
the current schools.  The current schools are within walking distance for a large number of pupils 
and the concern is those pupils may not be able to get to the new school so easily.

3. Some respondents say they like the way the schools work currently as small community schools. 
They fear if you combine the schools this individuality will be lost.

4. The safety of the children was raised as a main concern, especially around the potential traffic 
issues that the new school may bring.  With so many pupils attending the same school they 
wonder how can this be managed?

5. Some respondents highlight how the needs of primary school children are vastly different to 
those of secondary pupils and wonder how will this be managed?

6. Concern has been raised by respondents who are staff at the current schools regarding their jobs 
if the schools were to be amalgamated.

7. Respondents like the idea of a brand new school but are unsure how this can be managed 
effectively by one Headteacher.  They are concerned standards may not be maintained.

8. There is a concern that the Catholic education in Merthyr Tydfil will not thrive if the school is not 
built within the heart of the community.  They also ask can the new school keep the strong links 
that currently exist between the church, the schools and the community?

Page 87



9. Some respondents have concerns regarding class sizes and whether the children will be in bigger 
classes than they are used to.

10. Questions were raised regarding how this proposal may impact on other ‘partner’ primary 
schools outside the County Borough.

At the Consultation meetings held at the four schools, most of the above concerns were vocalised by 
attendees and below are the responses given by the Officers in attendance.

 Why appoint a new Headteacher? - In other local authorities where 3-16 schools have been 
created, the approach without an overall structure in place first hasn’t worked. Therefore the 
proposal is to appoint a Headteacher from September 2019 to work closely with the new 
governing body. Otherwise the Headteacher of the new 3-16 school would have no say in the 
design or be involved in key decisions. With the appointment of a new Headteacher, they can 
then formulate and propose the leadership, management and staffing structures for the new 
school. 

 Concerns over job loses - When the 3-16 school is built, the new governing body will determine 
the staffing structure and the LA and Archdiocese will support the school to ensure the staffing 
structure is appropriate.  The recommendation will be that staff positions are ring-fenced and 
posts are offered to existing school staff in the first instance.

 Site location - The site of the school is not known at this time.  A number of sites are currently 
being looked at.  Once the site has been determined, it is estimated the new school building will 
be ready 2022/2023.

 Concerns over primary and secondary pupils mixing - In the new school, there will be separate 
areas for the different key stages. Also primary and secondary will have their own school yards 
and separate entrances. Lunchtimes will also be separated in terms of areas and times. The 
benefits to one through school is the opportunity for all pupils to access specialist facilities and 
resources e.g. science and technology, and the ability for secondary pupils to learn in the 
primary phase, especially around care related activities and for meeting requirements of the 
Welsh Baccalaureate. 

 Class sizes - Class sizes in the new school will be similar to now and in-line with Welsh 
Government guidance.

 Safety concerns - The new school will be designed to meet all the current health and safety 
guidance. Arrangements for parking and drop off points will be included in this. There will be 
huge consideration to the safeguarding of all learners within the new build. 

 Losing the community feel - The primary schools will have the same staff and there will always 
be a nurture element as part of a primary school. The same ethos would still exist in a larger 
school with staff and pupils continuing to have a close relationship.

 Partner Primary schools - The archdiocese will ensure to work with all feeder partner schools. 
The governing body and new Headteacher will ensure transition arrangements are put in place 
to support pupils joining the school from primary schools outside the County Borough, so that 
pupils transferring at year 7 are not disadvantaged.

Page 88



 Maintaining standards - The proposal is to strengthen the Catholic education system with an all-
through school and the new governing body will continue to monitor standards going forward to 
ensure they continue to improve.

We welcomed any suggestions or alternatives to the proposal through the Consultation process and 
responses to these can be found in Appendix B.  

6.0 THE VIEW OF ESTYN (HER MAJESTY’S INSPECTORATE OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING IN WALES) 
OF THE OVERALL MERITS OF THE PROPOSAL

Estyn has provided us with the following as their response to this consultation process: 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in Wales. 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its associated Code, 
proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a body that is 
required to act in accordance with the Code, and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in 
respect of school organisation matters. Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 
opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals. 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the following response to 
the information provided by the proposer and other additional information such as data from Welsh 
Government and the views of the Regional Consortia, which deliver school improvement services to the 
schools within the proposal. 

Introduction 

This consultation proposal is from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 

The proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil by:
 Discontinuing St Aloysius RC Primary, the federation of St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC 

Primary and also Bishop Hedley RC Secondary
 Creating a single all-through 3-16 Catholic Education School 

Summary/Conclusion 

As the proposal provides too little information on the quality of, or structure of, the leadership at the 
proposed all-through school, Estyn is not able to assess whether this proposal is likely to maintain or 
improve the standard of education in the area. 

Description and benefits 

The proposal sets out that the local authority plans to discontinue St Aloysius RC Primary, the Federation 
of St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary schools and Bishop Hedley High school from 1 
September 2019 to create a 3 to 16 school based across the existing four sites of the current schools.  The 
local authority has an appropriate rationale for this, based on improving provision and outcomes for 
pupils and supporting the long-term sustainability of Catholic education within the borough. However, 
under the heading of ‘The Proposal’ the document also sets out in detail other works, such as the 
building of a new school on an unspecified site, which are not part of this proposal. As a result, it may not 
be clear to the reader what the local authority is including in this particular consultation. 

Page 89



In the document, other similar inconsistencies exist.  For example, when considering the impact of the 
proposal on educational outcomes, this proposal document considers in detail the impact of ‘having 
primary and secondary aged pupils on one site’. It notes that ‘It would expect that there would be a clear 
distinction between the secondary aspect of the site and the primary aspect’. However, the building of a 
new school on an ‘unspecified site’ and its consequences are not a part of this proposal. This may cause 
consultees further confusion.

The proposal set out suitably and fairly the expected benefits and disadvantages when compared with 
the status quo. It identifies well a range of risks associated with the proposals. However, in either case, it 
does not set out clearly how the local authority will address and minimise difficulties or issues. 

The proposer sets out well a broad range of alternative options to the current proposal and appears to 
have considered these appropriately.  However, the local authority conflates this consultation with other 
plans.  When identifying the six alternatives proposals, the local authority sets out proposal six (its 
preferred option) as ‘Create a new 3-16 Catholic school, ultimately on one site’.  However, the building of 
a new school and the move to one site is not part of this proposal and this may confuse consultees. 
The local authority has considered the impact of the changes on learner travel arrangements suitably.

The proposal sets out in useful detail the projected demand for places in the schools and the level of 
potential surplus.  It identifies a high surplus capacity of 34% in the secondary school involved in the 
proposal by 2023. When outlining its favoured option in the proposal, the local authority lists as one of 
the advantages that it will ‘remove surplus places’.  However, it does not explain clearly how this 
proposal will do this.  As no school in this consultation provide education through the medium of Welsh, 
it is unlikely that there will be any impact on Welsh medium provision within the local authority. 

Educational aspects of the proposal 

When considering the impact of the proposal on the quality of outcomes and provision, the local 
authority identifies a range of intended benefits of the proposal suitably.  However, it has not been 
consistently clear about how the school will achieved these benefits.  For example, when considering the 
impact on educational provision, the local authority notes that this proposal will improve the range and 
quality of facilities and learning resources available.  However, as the four school buildings in the 
proposal will remain, it is not clear how the local authority will bring this about. 

When considering the impact on the quality of leadership, the proposal does not set out well enough the 
possible effects of changing the leadership structures of three primary schools and one secondary school 
across four different sites, and the impact that this may have on the schools.  The proposer outlines the 
current Welsh Government categorisation of each of the schools appropriately.  However, the proposal 
does not contain further information on the consortium’s view on the quality of leadership and 
management at the schools. 

The proposal document identifies the current condition of the separate buildings using a letter code, for 
example condition ‘C-‘.  However, it is not clear to the consultees what this coding means, and the 
proposer gives no further information about the condition of the buildings or if they need improvement. 

The proposal appears not to consider in detail the impact of the proposals on vulnerable groups, 
including children with Special Educational Needs.  

Page 90



The proposal only sets out the number of pupils with additional needs in each school and states that ‘a 3-
16 provision would allow for improved continuity of support for learners with additional needs and 
support these learners through transition from one key stage to the next’. 

The proposal considers the impact of the changes on learner travel arrangements suitably. 

As all schools named in the proposal are of a religious nature, the proposer notes the outcomes of 
Section 50 inspections of Catholic ethos suitably. However, the proposer does not provide clear enough 
information on these important reports. For example, for St Mary’s RC and St Aloysius RC primary 
schools it notes that both current performance and prospects for improvement are ‘adequate’, but gives 
no indication as to why, or whether the schools have improved.

7.0 CONCLUSION 

To be completed following the decision taken at the meeting of Cabinet on 21st November 2018.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Call Off Contract For The Supply Of Refuse 
Vehicles

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Vehicles should be replaced at the end of their economic life where there is a need 
to operate a vehicle to deliver front line services.

1.2 A gateway was received by Procurement Board to action a procurement process 
(call off) for the supply of refuse and recycling vehicles (old twin pack vehicles).

1.3 Each vehicle required over the coming years would be above the threshold for 
gateway reports, therefore in order to reduce activities associated with board and 
individual call offs it was proposed to form a 4 year call off Contract.  This in effect 
creates a replacement programme for refuse and recycling vehicles for the next four 
years making the replacement process more efficient.

1.4 The call off is to be actioned via a Crown Commercial Services (CCS) Framework 
RM1070 – vehicle purchase.  The framework allows for direct call off of vehicles from 
specific manufacturers.

1.5 The call off will fix pricing for 12 months, meaning that we avoid an annual increase 
in manufacturer pricing for at least the next two vehicle replacements.

1.6 Specific vehicle pricing will not be obtained until the call off has been agreed and 
signed off.

Date Written 5th November 2018
Report Author Paul Davies
Service Area Waste Management
Committee Division Cabinet
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st November 2018

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



1.7 Vehicles purchased through the call off will be maintained locally through the 
Councils vehicle maintenance Contract.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The call off contract be approved through the CCS framework with Dennis Eagle Ltd, 
Heathcote Way, Heathcote Industrial Estate, Warwick, CV34 6TE

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Council operates a small number of refuse vehicles to collect refuse on a 
fortnightly basis, there are also a number of vehicles which are used for glass, 
cardboard and green waste collections, all are manufactured by the same provider.

3.2 Leases have been extended on a number of vehicles meaning that maintenance 
costs are generally high however this is balanced against the extended leases being 
low in cost.

3.3 In order to ensure we maximise time on the road and avoid breakdowns, vehicles 
should be replaced at the end of their economic life.  For vehicles that do not go to 
tip, this can be up to 7 years.

3.4 A number of vehicles over the next 4 years are due to be replaced and a valid, 
efficient mechanism for replacing these vehicles is required.

4.0 PROCUREMENT PROCESS

4.1 The process of delivering a call off Contract is fairly simple.

4.2 The Crown Commercial Services Vehicle Replacement Framework allows a call off 
to be created for individual or multiple vehicles.

4.3 In order to ensure we make best use of officer time, it has been recommended to 
Procurement Board that we consider creating a 4 year call off that allows the Council 
to replace vehicles when required.

4.4 The call off will be worded sufficiently to allow some flexibility over what and when 
vehicles will be called off.

4.5 The call off is based upon the CCS call off terms and conditions which are used on a 
national basis by the public sector.  The call off will ensure that we are compliant in 
terms of procurement process and that we are buying on favourable terms and pre-
negotiated manufacturer discount rates.

Page 94



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 It is established that a new vehicle will cost approximately £15,000 less over a 5 year 
period to maintain, compared to existing vehicles.  This is partly due to the benefits 
of warranties that are bought with the vehicles.

5.2 Purchase costs of refuse vehicles have risen significantly over the last 10 years, 
partly due to rises in raw materials, labour, this may have an effect on the cost of 
operating leases.  This cannot be confirmed until the Council seeks operating leases 
following delivery of vehicles.

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 1 of 4  0 of 4 3 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

 5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are
 The WellBeing Objectives are that the proposal contributes to environmental wellbeing as 

the vehicles link to the collection of waste that feeds into the energy from waste facility.
 The Sustainability Development Principles are that the proposal can contribute to 

reducing carbon emissions, refuse is integrated with recycling operations, collaboration 
and involvement exists at the procurement stage and through public consultations on 
changes to waste strategies.

The main negative impacts are none

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR KEVIN GIBBS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE

Page 95



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 96



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Public Open Space, Woodlands Avenue, Treharris

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 On 5th August 2018 a petition was handed in to the council requesting that the field at 
the end of Woodlands Avenue Treharris be retained as a play area/kick-about area.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 Cabinet are asked to endorse the following recommendation :-
            Option 4.4 That the council partly funds reinstatement of the area providing the 

community take responsibility for the area by way of lease or licence and that 
external funding can be secured.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 A small area of land to the North of Woodlands Avenue in Treharris once provided 
allotment plots to the community.  The area had not been used as allotments for 
some time and around 2005 the local residents enquired if they could turn the area 
into a small kick about area.  

3.2 This request was granted and the residents funded the maintenance and the 
purchase of mini goal posts via fund raising and grants.  In 2010 the community 
group folded and a request was made to the council to take back the responsibility of 
maintenance.  At the time council officers considered the request but declined to 

Date Written 31st October 2018 **
Report Author Robert Barnett
Service Area Neighbourhood Services
Committee Division Parks and Bereavement
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st November 2018

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



maintain the area as a formal kick about area. This was due to concerns about the 
surface, lack of fencing and close proximity to the river.

3.3 The council does not recognise the area as an official play area and it hasn’t been 
maintained as such since 2010.  However, residents have been maintaining it 
themselves to allow informal games to take place there.  This has continued on the 
area since 2010 but recently tensions between users and the residents of number 60 
(closest property to the kick about area) have arisen due to balls being kicked over 
the garden fence.  It is also alleged that some anti-social behaviour has taken place 
between the users and the residents of number 60.

3.4 In June 2018 officers from Parks and the estates department met with residents of 
number 60 to establish what the issues were.  Discussions also took place with other 
residents within Woodlands Avenue to try and develop a balanced view of the 
tensions within the community.

3.5 On the 5th August 2018 the council received a petition from local residents in favour 
of retaining the kick-about area.  Although there were 250 signatures on the petition 
only 74 complied with the council’s petition policy which states that every page of the 
petition should include a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the 
petition.  This was only present on the first page rendering the following signatures 
invalid.

3.6 It is clear that the issue has created tension in the community and a solution which 
will be mutually acceptable to both sides of the argument is preferable.  To impose a 
one sided solution is not likely to be successful or readily accepted by the 
community.

3.7 In order to provide a possible solution and to comply with the council’s petitions 
policy officers have brought this report to seek approval for one of the options 
provided.

4.0 OPTIONS

4.1 Do nothing:-  leave the area as it is.  This will not prevent informal use of the area 
and will not lessen the tension within the community.

4.2 The council take back the responsibility of maintenance for the area as a green 
space area but not as a kick-about area.  Goals would be removed and grass would 
be cut at the end of the year to prevent it becoming scrub land.  Although partially 
solving the problems of balls being kicked over into the garden of number 60 it would 
deprive the community of a valuable green space as demonstrated by the number of 
people signing the petition.

4.3 The council take back responsibility of the area and maintain it as a kick-about area.  
The surface would require some work and the erection of ball stop fence would be 
required as well as planning permission.  The Area is not currently recognised as a 
play area by the council, and the reasons why this option was rejected in 2010 still 
stand today. Unless funding is allocated for reinstatement, fencing and ongoing 

Page 98



maintenance then this area would become a further burden on the council’s 
resources.

4.4 The council funds or contributes to funding the reinstatement and fencing works and 
a lease or licence agreement be granted to the community for them to maintain it 
themselves.  Initial discussions with the residents indicate this option would be 
favourable although further detailed discussions would be required to include those 
for and against the proposal.  External funding, maintenance obligations and terms of 
the lease or licence will need to be explored and signed prior to the council 
committing resources to the project.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 Estimated costs for each option previously described shown below:-

OPTION DETAIL COST
4.1 Do nothing Nil
4.2 Minimum maintenance £120 per annum
4.3 Maintain as a kick about area,   

Planning permission                   £   460.00
Fencing    27m                            £5,738.00
Reinstatement                             £1,200.00
Annual maintenance                   £   600.00 £7998.00

4.4 Partial funding (reinstatement works but not 
including fence or annual maintenance) £1,660.

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4of 4 0of 4 0of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5of 5 0of 5 0of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0of 10 0of 10 10of 10

Page 99



4. Biodiversity 0of 1 1of 1 0of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are …The existing tensions within the community will be 
alleviated and the future of the open space will be secured for the future. 

The main negative impacts are …A small negative impact on biodiversity due to the 
increased maintenance of the area.

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR KEVIN GIBBS 
CABINET MEMBER

FOR NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE  

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

NO

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 100



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Community Zone - Update 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report outlines the progress made to date on this regional initiative and the local 

developments of the Gurnos Community Zone within Merthyr Tydfil.  
 
1.2 The key priorities are identified for further development of this initiative in line with 

the aims as set out in the regional plans approved by the Public Service Board 
(PSB). 

 
1.3 The report also proposes the membership of the Local Implementation Board which 

will oversee the initiative and sets out some key areas that this group will need to 
take forward once it becomes established.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The progress to date and revised terms of reference and membership of the 

implementation group be noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Members will be aware that through the Public Service Board a regional approach to 

Welsh Government was made to pilot Community Zones in 2 areas in Cwm Taf, 1 in 
Ferndale and 1 in the Gurnos.  The critical components of the Community Zone 
which were agreed by the Public Service Board are outlined below with further detail 
contained in Appendix 1:   

 

 Develop a physical presence within the community.  Identifying a central point in 
the community as a ‘Community Hub’.  

Date Written October 2018 

Report Author Chris Hole 

Service Area Community Wellbeing 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 21st November 2018 

Page 101

Agenda Item 9



 In the Community Hub, create a single point of contact (SPOC) for those 
requiring information, advice, support and intervention, integrating services in a 
way that links in with the IAA approach (Social Services & Wellbeing Act).  

 Implement an integrated prevention, early identification and intervention 
framework that enable individuals and families to access non-stigmatised support 
as early as possible to prevent problems from escalating.  This ‘one public 
service’ model will provide the central mechanism for assessing need and 
resilience, identifying the most relevant support pathway and brokering support 
and co-ordinating interventions, for individuals and families.  

 Create a robust community engagement and involvement approach embedding 
the co-production approach to listening to and working with the community.   

 Take a whole community approach to better understand and challenge the effects 
of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE’s). 

 
3.2   This report has been requested, in order to update elected members on the progress 

of the initiative to date and to inform on the future development priorities. These 
priorities focus on the engagement of partners and the community, using the 
neighbourhood network model and establishing the model for the ‘local’ governance 
of the Community Zone. 

 

4.0 PROGRESS TO DATE  
 
4.1 The main focus within Merthyr Tydfil has been on securing the Community 

Presence or ‘Hub’ - due to the impact losing the facility would have had on the 
range of co-located services already based from the facility within the Gurnos and on 
the community itself.  The securing of the facility included:   

 

 Tri-partite agreements reached on Chestnut Way facility with the facility owner 
Merthyr Valley Homes (MVH) and previous tenants 3G’s Development Trust.  
MVH role is to manage the ‘hub’, and jointly funded hub manager, the lease 
agreements in place with co-located services, thus avoiding the authority 
becoming responsible for the facility and its management.  MVH have undertaken 
refurbishment and upgrades of some areas within the facility at no cost to the 
Council to date.  

 Legacy fund investment enabled continuation of Forsythia Youth Project and 
agreed relocation to first floor of the ‘hub’ which in time will enable MVH to realise 
additional rents which have since been earmarked by the organisation to help 
sustain Forsythia in the longer term.  Also space set aside for community use 
within the second floor of the ‘hub’. 

 The 3G’s Development Trust (3G’s) being relocated into their new creative 
industries facility within the ‘clinic’ at the rear of the ‘hub’ – however this move has 
been delayed due to ongoing building issues within the clinic.  Contract in place 
between the 3G’s and MTCBC to deliver on the community development aspect 
of the Community Zone and support provision of information and advice to the 
community within the ‘hub’. 

 Additional resources have been secured through the Integrated Care Fund to 
reshape the public engagement area of the ‘hub’, to be a much more welcoming 
environment from which to access information and advice. 

 
4.2 The Wider Community - In reviewing the wider developments associated with 

taking this initiative forward the following has been achieved to date:  
 Page 102



 Lead for Community Zone and Learning appointed within the local authority 
enabling the development and production of a draft regional five year plan and 
one year local implementation plan as agreed by the PSB.  A review of the 
ground floor of the ‘hub’ facility in partnership with MVH has been conducted and 
a funding application has been submitted to support the refurbishment of this 
area and strengthen the ability to provide a ‘single point of contact’ approach 
within an appropriate and welcoming setting plus provide access to community 
space. 

 Community mapping and profiling is currently being completed by a contracted 
organisation under the guidance of the lead and this information will be critical to 
the future development of both the neighbourhood network and the 
implementation group.  This is being conducted through an assets based 
approach. 

 Community Zone and Learning Manager currently meeting with range of partners 
to discuss the Community Zone, improve organisations’ understanding of the 
aims of the programme, to discuss partner involvement and contributions to the 
community in preparation for a wider community engagement strategy. 

 Cordis Bright commissioned to produce a vulnerability assessment for the County 
Borough and differentiate for the Gurnos to identify key issues impacting on this 
community to aid future planning. 

 

5.0 KEY DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES 
 
5.1 Develop and establish the neighbourhood network across the Gurnos  Informal 

meetings with partners are underway and learning from RCT public engagement 
events has been gathered.  The key message being community engagement has 
worked best when it is conducted informally, based upon themed topics and limiting 
the statutory presence.  This has included using a framework around the themed 
topic of: ‘what can I do for myself’, ‘what I can do with others’, ‘what can the public 
services do for me’.  A draft communication and engagement plan is attached as 
Appendix 2. 

 
5.2 Agree core representation for the local governance model and set the terms of 

reference for this group.  There is a clear danger that the group becomes so large 
that it repeats the previous difficulties encountered through Communities First.  A 
model has been suggested by MVH, the principles of which the leads for community 
zones would support, however a regional model has also been proposed which the 
initial meeting of the implementation group have debated.  It was agreed at this initial 
meeting that the terms of reference suggested as a regional approach were not 
acceptable and these should be changed to reflect the decision making ability of the 
group.  The group also felt that the relationship to the regional group should be 
amended and therefore a new Terms of Reference has been developed and is 
attached as Appendix 3.  

 
5.3 Further to the discussions at the initial implementation group meeting the 

membership for the governance of the Community Zone is proposed below:  
 

Page 103



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5.4 Formalise the verbal agreements in place with key partners to implement the shared 
approach to providing information and support a ‘single point of contact’ within the 
‘hub’.  This adoption of memorandums of understanding or other such agreements 
will provide all partners with a clear understanding of roles and responsibilities and 
evidence changes in practice, partnership working and commitment of organisations 
to the priorities being taken forward.  

 
5.5 Agree model with Social Services to ensure ‘single point of contact’ as the ‘hub’ is 

linked in with the future IAA strategy, potentially through an outreach or digital model.  

 
5.6 Develop an ACEs informed workforce across the community ensuring they are better 

equipped to link individuals and families into community based services.  This 
includes building on the social prescribing model and the existing community 
coordinators, potentially extending this role to encompass a wider age range than 
currently in place.  

 
5.7 From a regional perspective there is a need to agree an evaluation framework to 

judge the success or not of Community Zones in influencing outcomes for individuals 
and families, changing the delivery of services and what impact this approach has 
within the community.   

 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.  It should be noted 

that there are no resources from Welsh Government to support this approach and 
therefore the success of the initiative is based upon partners engaging and being 
prepared to work differently.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Membership  
 

MTCBC Elected Members for the Ward (4) 

Cwm Taf Health Board 

Merthyr Tydfil CBC   

Community Zone Lead - MTCBC 

Merthyr Valley Homes 

School cluster Lead and a resident Parent Governor 

The Police 

Third Sector Lead - VAMT 

Natural Resources Wales 

3 G’s Development Trust (1) 

2 additional voluntary organisations active in the Gurnos ‘resident trustees’ 

2 Additional Local Residents   

Young Person’s Representative (1)  

Cwm Taf PSB support officer - non-voting function to support operation of the group 

Page 104



7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1  
 Positive 

Impacts 

Negative 

Impacts 

Not 

Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 

Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 

Principles - How have you 

considered the five ways of 

working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including 

Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 

 
0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
The main positive impacts are that the programme is focused on trying to develop systems of 
integration and changing the way we work within communities  
 
No negative impacts have been identified.  
 

 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON  
        CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



Community Zone Vision 

 
The Hub:  The aim of the local authority and MVH is to have the ‘hub’ facility fully 
operational by the end of October 2018, with all refurbishment work completed. This 
includes an operational single point of contact centre for the community, staffed through 
partnership working at the hub and utilised by a range of partner organisations.  Some 
capital works are dependent upon current funding bids being successful.  Whilst we have a 
range of services at the facility currently what is in place is a co-location of services rather 
than an integrated approach which will require a culture change from all organisations 
involved.  
 

Integrated Working & SPOC:  Have effective practices in place for sharing ‘appropriate’ 
information with partners and an integration model which enables a Team Around the 
Gurnos approach.  Supporting individuals and families to access the right services at the 
right time.  This partnership approach will include looking at how data can be better utilised 
across agencies to identify and pre-emptively support those individuals and families that 
require early intervention and prevention services.  A clear focus on preventing escalation 
and of exit strategies from this support will be required including a stepped down approach 
into community support structures, which it is recognised will need to be significantly 
developed in order to create a more resilient community.     

 

Community Engagement:  Whilst the wellbeing plans and assessments provide a good 
insight into the regional issues further work is needed to look at data specific to the Gurnos 
and to obtain the lived experiences of the community.  Having an effective neighbourhood 
network in place is critical to underpin the model and ensure organisations, agencies, and 
the community work together to identify key issues, co-produce potential solutions and 
challenge partners to work differently ‘or pilot’  responses to these solutions.  The aim for 
the neighbourhood network is to have developed a co-produced solution that can be 
‘piloted’ by the end of year 1 of the initiative; one key issue has already been identified as a 
major cause for concern for the community. 

 

Governance:  A local governance group in place that has the right individuals involved who 
can make decisions and potentially reconfigure current service delivery to support the 
Community Zone priorities.  The greatest challenge for all these services, particularly 
across the public sector will be that of supporting a place based ‘integrated’ approach within 
diminishing resources and with no community zone ‘allocated’ resource to take forward this 
initiative.  Therefore the implementation group will need to lead on developing a cultural 
change, providing a robust degree of challenge to professionals and recognise professional 
boundaries when working across agencies/organisations.  This group will be required to 
drive forward change in response to the challenges a place based approach will bring and 
in response to the thriving communities priority within the wellbeing plan.  

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Appendix 1  

Page 106



Gurnos Pilot Community Zone and Proposed Engagement and Communication Plan 
 
Context:  Cwm Taf Public Service Board (PSB) and Well-being Plan, and Children 
First Pilot Areas 
 
As set out in Cwm Taf Public Services Board’s Well-being Plan published in May 2018, the 
PSB intends to develop Community Zones as an area or place based approach focussing 
support to improve outcomes for our areas with the greatest challenges as part of its 
objective to develop thriving communities.  
 
This approach is being piloted in two communities, Gurnos and Upper Rhondda Fach and 
is considered an ‘immediate step’, that is something that will be realised in the next one-two 
years. It is intended that learning from these communities will be used as the approach is 
rolled out across communities in Cwm Taf, with priority given to areas where there is 
greatest need, in the next two - five years. The objective is cross cutting and links to other 
objectives and steps. As other approaches are being developed they can be trialled within 
these pilot communities. The aim of the approach is for the PSB and all of its involved 
partners to work with communities to join up services in the heart of the community. The 
PSB wants to work with communities to make sure the resulting ‘hub’ is what its citizens 
need.  
 
When children have difficult times or suffer abuse or distress it can often lead to poor 
outcomes for them as children as well as into adulthood. These are Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs). Adverse outcomes are not inevitable, but the risk increases with 
increasing exposure to ACEs. Conversely, preventing ACEs can improve outcomes greatly, 
that is why preventing ACEs has been put at the centre of the Community Zone approach. 
By working together the PSB will develop vulnerability profiles, share information across 
partners to target support to those who need it most, provide training and skills with staff 
and communities to prevent and reduce the effect of ACEs to help all our citizens thrive. It 
was agreed for the Children First approach will have tackling ACEs at its heart, however, it 
is acknowledged that the building of resilience to achieve sustainable change would require 
a whole family approach. It was also felt that a resilient community required the 
engagement and investment o the whole community and as such any place-based 
approach should be as inclusive as possible.  
 
There are a wide range of interventions and services delivered across the two pilot areas, 
and across Cwm Taf; however much of this provision could be more effectively co-
ordinated or organised. At present the main drivers for the delivery of support are legislative 
frameworks, grant funding criteria, existing commissioning arrangements and the current 
skill base of providers as opposed to the needs of families and communities across the 
region. 
 
In order to effectively remove these barriers, the PSB seeks to fundamentally change the 
way in which it approaches this agenda by taking a broader view of how all structures of 
public services and partners can be reconfigured and re-aligned. Individuals, families and 
communities should not miss out on much-needed help and support because of our 
differing thresholds, eligibility criteria, procedural mechanisms and priorities which are 
directed by prescriptive funding streams. 
 
Furthermore, it is envisaged that the creation of the Community Zones will support a 
number of the key challenges for our population that have emerged through the Cwm Taf 
Well-being Assessment and Population Needs Assessment.  

 

Appendix 2 

Page 107

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=210
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=181&mid=444&fileid=34
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=179&mid=436&fileid=156


Gurnos Pilot Community Zone Proposed Engagement and Communication Plan 
 
 Activity/Key Aim  Target Group Lead Date Outcome 

1 Key Activity:  Awareness raising of the Pilot 
Community Zone with strategic organisation and leads.  
 
Key Aims:  

 Confirmation of the project key aims, priorities and 
plans. 

 Understanding of how partners and organisations 
can contribute. 

 Gaining commitment of resources within a ‘shared 
approach’. 

MTCBC 
Elected 
Members  
 
Strategic 
Partners 
 

Community 
Wellbeing 
Leads 

August 
2018 

Confirmed lead and member of the 
Implementation group. 
 
Outline confirmation on the 
contribution the organisation /partners 
will provide. 
 
Agreement to a ‘shared approach’. 

2 Key Activity:  Awareness raising of the Pilot 
Community Zone with Education Department. 
 
Key Aims:  

 Confirmation of the project key aims, priorities and 
plans. 

 Understanding of schools needs and contribute. 

 Gaining commitment of resources within a ‘shared 
approach’. 

Head Teacher- 
primary and 
secondary 
schools 

Community 
Wellbeing 
Leads 

Early 
September 
2018 

Confirmed lead and member of the 
Implementation group. 
 
Outline confirmation on the 
contribution the organisation will 
provide. 
 
Agreement to a ‘shared approach’. 

3 Key Activity:  Awareness raising of the Pilot 
Community Zone with the community. 
 
Key Aims:  

 Starting the community ‘conversation’. 

 Identifying priorities. 

 Establishing leads/organisations for the 
Neighbourhood Network. 

Tenants & 
residents  
community 
groups 
 

Community 
Wellbeing 
Leads 
 
3G’s 
Development 
Trust 

August 
2018 

Named leads for membership of the 
Neighbourhood Network. 
 
Agreement to a ‘shared approach’. 
 
 

4 Key Activity:  Public Event - Awareness raising 
campaign and workshop. 
 
Key Aims:  

 Confirmation of the project key aims, priorities and 
plans. 

 Agreeing the Theory of Change (TOC). 

Statutory 
Organisation,  
Third Sector & 
Voluntary 
Partners                                                                                                                  

Community 
Wellbeing 
Leads  
 
3G’s 
Development 
Trust 

October 
2018 

Confirmed lead and member of the 
Neighbourhood Network.  
 
Outline confirmation of the 
contribution organisations will be able 
to provide. 
 

P
age 108



 Organisations commitment of resources within a 
‘shared approach’. 

 Establishing leads/organisations for the 
Neighbourhood Network. 

Strategic Leads 
 
Public Service 
Board(PSB)  

Agreement to a ‘shared approach’. 
 

5 Key Activity:  Set up a local Community Zone 
Implementation Group. 
 
Key Aims:  

 Agree membership.  

 Set the Terms of Reference (TOR). 

 Set Strategic delivery plan and 1 year work plan. 

 Identifying priorities/remove road blocks. 

 Progress monitoring. 

 To develop a co-produced solution to an identified 
need. 

 Develop an ACEs informed workforce and 
community. 

MTCBC 
Elected 
Members  
 
Strategic 
Partners 
 
Community 
Leads 
 

Community 
Wellbeing 
Leads  

Mid- 
September 
2018 

Agreed meeting format & TOR. 
 
Agreed strategic priorities & 1 year 
plan. 
 
Agreed ‘Shared approach’. 
 
Circulation List and yearly calendar. 

6 Key Activity:  Set up a Neighbourhood Network. 
 
Key Aims:  

 Membership. 
Through a Topic / Themed Approach;  

 Identification of community needs/gaps in provision 
/‘road blocks’. 

 Support the implementation of a co-produced 
approach to a proposed solution to a local need. 

 Progress monitoring. 

Tenants & 
Residents  
Community 
Groups 
 
Statutory, 
Third Sector &  
Voluntary 
Organisations 
 

Community 
Zone Lead 
 
3G’s 
Development 
Trust 

November  
2018 (bi-
monthly)  

Agreed meeting format. 
 
Agreed priorities. 
 
Agreed ‘Shared approach’. 

7 Key Activity:  Marketing and Promotion. 
 
Key Aims: 

 Develop a social media plan and ‘brand’. 

 Promote the initial awareness sessions and 
workshops. 

 Naming of the facility and ‘Hub’ launch. 

 Promote community activities and events. 

 Promote community good news stories. 

Tenants & 
Residents  
Community 
Groups 
 
Statutory, 
Third Sector &  
Voluntary 
Organisations 

Community 
Zone 
Implementation 
Group 
 

October 
2018 

Marketing promotion plan. 
 
Community Zone ‘Brand’. 
 
Community engagement and 
interaction. 
 
A better informed community. 

 

P
age 109



Neighbourhood Network  and Interface with Implementation Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gurnos 
Neighbourhood 

Network &  
Single Point of 
Contact (SPOC) 

Hub  

One Public Service & 
Integrated Working  

Flying Start 
/ Families 

First  

Employment  
Services  

Community 
Members  

Youth 
Services 

GP’s  

Voluntary 
Sector  

  

Education 
Services  

Police 

Health  
Schools 

Merthyr 
Valley 
Homes 

Social 
Services 

Third 
sector 

Community Zone 
Implementation 

Group 
(Governance) 

P
age 110



 

 

 

 
                               CWM TAF WELL-BEING PLAN (Objective 1) 

 
COMMUNITY ZONE IMPLEMENTATION GROUP (V2 31.10.18)  

 
1.0 BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 The Cwm Taf Well-being Plan has identified a number of objectives to be delivered 

by the Public Services Board (PSB) on behalf of the communities of Cwm Taf. 
Objective 1 is: 

 
“To promote safe, confident, strong and thriving communities improving the well-

being of residents and visitors and building on our community assets” 
 
1.2 The Well-being Plan identifies an immediate step toward this objective; to develop 

community zones as a place based approach focussing on a preventative approach 
to support and improve outcomes for our areas with the greatest challenge. 

 
1.3 The purpose of the Cwm Taf Strategic Group is to implement the strategic priorities 

as agreed by the Public Service Board within the Well Being Plan.  
 
2.0 REGIONAL GOVERNANCE 
 
2.1 The Community Zone Strategic Group will report to the SPB and PSB. As this 

objective concerns place based approaches, there will be two locality specific 
Implementation Groups, within both RCT and Merthyr, to ensure developments meet 
local need and to provide clear line of sight back to the Strategic Group. Please see 
Figure 1  

 
Figure 1  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Appendix 3 

PSB 

SPB 

Cwm Taf  
Strategic Group 

(Objective1)  

Community Zone 
Implementation Group- 

GURNOS 

Community Zone 
Implementation Group- 

RHONDDA FACH 
 

Neighbourhood 

Network 

Neighbourhood 

Network 

Page 111



 

 

2.2 The Implementation Groups will report to the Strategic Group to update on progress 
against the delivery plan, and the chairs may be required to attend.  These meetings 
will take place eight weeks in advance of the SPB and will identify any barriers to 
progress or areas where the assistance or direction of the Strategic Group/ SPB or 
PSB is required.  

 
 

GURNOS COMMUNITY ZONE IMPLEMENTATION GROUP 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE GROUP  

 
1.1 The Community Zone Implementation group will oversee the implementation of the 

delivery plans, identifying and agreeing the actions contained therein, taking 
collective responsibility for monitoring progress. The group will also oversee the 
future development of priorities and actions to improve outcomes for Gurnos 
residents.  

 
1.2 This group will also ensure that the developments support the three principle 

objectives of the Community Zone approach: 
 

a) Each Community Zone will support an early intervention and preventative 
approach to tackling adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), supporting the most 
vulnerable people in our communities through a whole family approach and 
building community resilience; 
 

b) Partners will take a “one public service” approach to delivering services and 
interventions in each Community Zone, working together differently with the third 
sector to provide a better public service offer; and 

 
c) There will be a different way of working with our communities through meaningful 

community engagement and co-production to find solutions to the challenges each 
community faces; supporting opportunities for volunteering to build the 
community’s capacity to support themselves. 

 
2.0  MEMBERSHIP 
 
2.1 The membership of the Merthyr Community Zone Implementation Group (The 

Gurnos) will be drawn from the following organisations. Membership will be reviewed 
at the first meeting and annually thereafter.  

 
Name Organisation Role 

Lee Davies  Elected Member Community representation 

Jeremy Davies  Elected Member Community representation 
Clive Tovey  Elected Member Community representation 
Bill Smith  Elected Member Community representation 
Mike Owen  Merthyr Valley Homes (MVH) CEO MVH 

Simon Davies Police Services  Chief Inspector (Merthyr Tydfil) 

Craige Wilson Cwm Taf UHB  Assistant Director Primary Health 
Services 

Emma Cahill Cwm Taf Public Health  Senior Health Promotion 
Specialist 

Page 112



 

 

Keith Maher Penydre High School Cluster Lead 

Chris Hole  MTCBC Head of Community Services 

Ellis Cooper MTCBC Deputy Chief Executive  

Ian Davy  VAMT Chief Officer  

Natalie Rees Natural Resources Wales  Programme Manager  

James Sneddon 3G’s Development Trust  Board Member 

Brian Collins (Old) Gurnos Tenants and 
Residents Board 

Chair  

Rhonda 
Braithwaite 

(New) Gurnos Tenants and 
Residents Board 

Chair  

Claire Jones Community  Resident Gurnos  

Vacant  Community  Resident Gurnos 

TBC Community (Youth) Resident Gurnos 

TBC Community ( Youth)  Resident Gurnos 

Non-voting - Advisory Roles  

Diane Jones  MTCBC  Community Zone Manager 

Lisa Toghill PSB Regional Team Support Officer  

 
3.0 PROTOCOLS 
 

 The Community Zone Implementation group will meet monthly for the first 6 
months, bi-monthly thereafter, and in accordance with an agreed schedule. 

 Agenda, papers and minutes of previous meeting to be circulated to the group at 
least 7 days prior to the meeting.  

 All business will be conducted using open and transparent processes and where 
voting is required this will be one member one vote, where voting is deadlocked 
the Chair will have the casting vote. 

 Members will be expected to provide the Board with any data held which is 
relevant to the work and issues being undertaken collaboratively. 

 Special meetings will be called for urgent business, if necessary or where 
appropriate sub groups established to make recommendations to the group. 

 Members may identify a named substitute to represent them in their absence, 
with a remit to approve business, as required. 

 Representative(s) from project / organisations can be co-opted members of the 
group to provide guidance, support and assistance as deemed necessary by the 
group however these positions will be non-voting positions. 

 Membership of the Community Zone Implementation group will be reviewed 
annually. 

 Community Zone Implementation Group terms of reference are reviewed 
annually.  

 
4.0 The implementation group is accountable for: 
  

 To develop, agree, monitor and report on progress of actions, set out  within an  
annual  delivery plan in order to meet Objective 1 of the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 
and the overarching outcomes of the Community Zone initiative. 

 Fostering collaborative working across partners. 

 Removing obstacles to ensure successful delivery, development and 
implementation and where necessary escalate these barriers through the 
governance structure. 

Page 113



 

 

 Developing effective practices for measuring outcomes and performance,  
including evidencing how practice has changed as a result of the initiative  

 Promoting and supporting meaningful engagement with communities to develop 
neighbourhood networks, resident participation and the co-production of solutions 
to the issues faced by residents within the Community Zone. 

 
5.0 Members of the Implementation group will commit too:  
 

 Wholeheartedly championing the work of the Community Zone initiative engaging 
as required with all key partners 

 Support and share required communications, information and relevant data with 
members and relevant stakeholders in pursuit of improving outcomes for all  

 Making informed decisions and complete actions on behalf of the group in a 
timely manner 

 Notify members at the earliest convenience of any matters which may be deemed 
to impact on the community zone initiative  

 Making a clear commitment to the ultimate goal i.e. making a positive difference 
to the lives of people who live in the Gurnos 

 Understand and respect individual organisational views even if they appear 
challenging to their own 

 Developing a culture of transparency and openness between organisations. 
 
5.1 Members are reminded that in developing new practices and exploring/piloting new 

ways of working all partners must develop a constructive challenge environment 
between colleagues and agencies whilst recognising that a fear of failure or 
judgement of failure will only serve to hold the initiative back.  

 
6.0 Members will expect: 
 

 That each member will be provided with complete accurate and meaningful 
information in a timely manner 

 Agenda Papers and minutes of previous meetings to be circulated to the group at 
least 7 days prior to the meeting  

 To be given reasonable time to make decisions and recommendations 

 Be alerted to potential risks and issues that could impact on the desired 
outcomes of the implementation group as they arise 

 Receive open and honest  information and discussions avoiding misleading 
assertions or conclusions   

 

Page 114



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

‘Be positive, not Perfect’ – Parenting Marketing 
Campaign 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
 
1.1 The report provides an overview of the key issues impacting on Parenting Support as 

part of the Council’s approach to poverty.  A summary of the actions that have been 
taken to date in response to a previous review has been provided and the next steps 
outlined. 

1.2 A key element of this work is challenging the negative perceptions that exist around 
accessing Parenting Support and encouraging engagement in these services.  
Therefore a digital marketing strategy to improve parental acceptance of Parenting 
Support which is based upon the strap line of ‘be positive not perfect’ is scheduled to 
go live at the end of November 2018. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 Cabinet note that a digital media campaign will go live in December 2018.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 In May 2017, Welsh Government (WG) updated its non-statutory guidance for local 
authorities on the provision of Parenting Support.  The document advocates the 
central role of parents and how they should be supported to promote positive 
outcomes for children.  Parenting Support is defined by WG as “The core purpose of 
Parenting Support is about working with parents to reduce risks; strengthen 

Date Written October 2018 *
Report Author Chris Hole
Service Area Community Wellbeing
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st November 2018

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



parenting capacity; develop and build resilience and sustain positive change in the 
best interests of children." 

3.2 During early 2017 an independent review of Parenting Services in Merthyr Tydfil took 
place.  The context for the review was based on developing a greater understanding 
of the range and depth of issues surrounding Parenting Support provision.  The 
review aims were to consult with stakeholders and a broad range of parents who 
were currently engaged, previously engaged and who had never engaged in the 
services on offer.  The review examined parents experience of the services, and 
looked at the outcomes of that support and assessment of its relevance to their 
needs, and where applicable what Parenting Support provision needs further 
development or has not been utilised effectively.

3.3 Parenting support is offered through Families First which provide access to parents 
through two routes.  One through the team around the family Multiple Intervention 
Assistance (MIA) programme and the other through a single intervention approach 
which has broadened access to this support in recent months.  For Flying Start, 
existing Parenting Support is contracted to reach 10% of eligible children, a target it 
has reached every year since delivery began in 2012.  With 70% of the lowest risk 
families amongst those accessing Parenting Support, demonstrating a more 
willingness to engage.  For families with high/medium risk the levels of take up are 
lower posing the most challenging group through their resistance to participate in 
such programmes. 

3.4 Since undertaking the review there has been a greater understanding of the 
Parenting Support needs across Merthyr Tydfil and the success and limitations of 
traditional approaches.  There is increased acknowledgment, that Parenting Support, 
which develops positive parenting, can help to mitigate the aspects of poor family 
circumstance, poverty and deprivation.  It can also underpin ways in which to protect 
children against the longer term impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) 
such as substance misuse, separation, parental absence, isolation and mental health 
challenges.  The national focus on ACES has highlighted or reinforced the 
importance of developing the parent/child relationship, and supporting the needs of 
parents coping with the negative outcomes of their own experiences.  

4.0 THE REVIEW – THE CRITICAL MESSAGES 

4.1 The number of households with dependent children is comparable with Wales 
(24.6%).  However, over a third of all births in Merthyr Tydfil are registered by 
parents at different addresses, compared with under a quarter in Wales.  This is 
critical as this reflects that a third of all households automatically encounter one ACE 
from birth.  Merthyr Tydfil families tend to be larger with a higher maternity rate than 
in Wales, and almost two thirds (65.5%) of births in Merthyr Tydfil are to mothers 
aged 29 or under, compared with 54.7% in Wales.

4.2 The review found that existing provision provides a good range of delivery options; 
however, it is predominantly focussed on parents of children up to the ages of 5-7 
years and mainly driven by Flying Start and Families First delivery.  The review 
highlighted the need to explore widening the Parenting Support offer to parents of 
older children and young people and in non-Flying Start areas.  

Page 116



4.3 The review highlighted the need to maintain the existing mix of parent support 
services, whilst exploring and identifying ways to remodel some aspects of the 
services.  The focus of this being how to attract and engage those who need access 
to this support more consistently, focusing on strategies to engage the hard to reach 
client groups.  Exploring alternative or additional delivery models to enable 
individuals to access support in the community.  This included the potential for 
developing peer support models for exit strategies and as a prevention element to 
develop longer term resilience through the parental journey.  Further developing 
elements of relationship support within existing delivery arrangements rather than 
identifying explicit new provision in these areas, particularly related to mediation and 
counselling. 

4.4 Across stakeholders and delivery staff and parents alike there was a strong sense 
that marketing of parenting support often targeted parents that have done something 
wrong/failing, rather than giving a positive message that illustrates the benefits of 
engaging with the service.  Messages that focused on parenting ‘deficiency’ rather 
than supporting child/parent outcomes.  It was felt that there needed to be some 
significant improvements in the marketing and branding of Parenting Support to 
ensure programmes increase engagement and reach target group/s, and developed 
a shared approach that foster an ‘aspirational’ approach for parents and Parenting 
Support that focuses on achieving aims for the parent and child.

4.5 To consider how Parenting Support becomes more cohesive across the authority 
developing the potential to embed key messages across the range of partners and 
statutory services (Schools, Social Services Early Years settings, Health services 
etc.) and offer more flexible intensive support for vulnerable groups.

5.0 PROGRESS ON RECOMMENDATION TO DATE

Review Recommendations Progress Update
Align all parenting support delivery 
more closely with the Welsh 
Government 2017 guidance; a key 
focus for the work of the Parenting 
Support Review Steering Group.

Tackling Poverty group agreed that future 
parenting delivery should be measured by 
children’s outcomes eg. on Capita 1 (attendance, 
behaviour, exclusions).

Actively seek to maintain the existing 
mix of service, whilst identifying a 
broader range of universal/targeted 
provision.  With additional delivery 
considerations focused on relationship 
work, on peer support models, and 
options for follow-up support including 
engagement into structured 
programmes.

A parental peer support project was commissioned 
with the Parent Network providing peer support 
county borough wide.  Following the evaluation of 
the parental peer support project it has been re-
commissioned for additional year (2018-19).

Develop specialist targeted delivery 
for vulnerable groups, and consider 
developing peer support models as a 
key approach.

An approach has been developed building on, and 
aligning, existing Families First commissioning 
Strategy to ensure parenting became an 
integrated component of vulnerable family 
delivery.
Integrated approach to Families First and Flying 

Page 117



Start Projects has been developed, with an 
integrated “pathway” of support. 

Pilot Attachment project has been commissioned.  

Develop a new parenting support 
branding/marketing campaign with a 
shared approach across all services 
that foster an ‘aspirational’ approach 
to parenting support focused on 
achieving aims for their child.

In February 2018, Jam Jar consultancy was 
appointed to undertake a Parental Engagement 
Marketing Campaign, with the key aim to develop 
a digital campaign to raise the profile of the 
importance of parental involvement in their child’s 
development and promotes the benefits to families 
of engaging in quality services. 

Develop consistent information 
sharing protocol across all parenting 
support not just those linked to MIA or 
Flying Start.

A review of Multiple Intervention Assistance (MIA) 
is being undertaken by Children’s Services.  

Move to a consistent approach to 
needs assessment and outcome 
measurement and reporting, a key 
component of the specifications for all 
future parenting support delivery. 

The use of Capita 1 being explored and 
developed, enabling parenting delivery to be 
measured by children’s outcomes. 

6.0 PARENTING – NEXT STEPS

6.1 A multi-agency Steering Group has been established to oversee the development of 
a marketing campaign and subsequently the development of a future Parenting 
Strategy for the authority.  It is expected that a draft strategy will be brought before 
Cabinet at the beginning of the 2019/20 financial year having been produced using 
the parental input to date and on-going involvement of service users.

6.2 The marketing campaign has been developed with parents and focuses on the key 
message to parents of ‘Be positive, not perfect’.  This will be disseminated using 
social media such as Facebook, Google Display and Network Advertising building on 
the success of previous digital media campaigns.  The campaign will utilise expertise 
of both Corporate Communications and the Family Information Service which will 
host the digital stories and information for families.  It is anticipated that the 
campaign will be launched on 22nd November and the campaign will run throughout 
Christmas and the New Year, which is recognised as a stressful period for many 
families.

6.3 The aim of the digital campaign is to raise the profile of the importance of parental 
involvement in their child’s development.  It is intended that the campaign will 
promote the benefits to parents and families of engaging in quality services, whilst 
challenging some of the barriers including stigma (negative perceptions)  that 
prohibit parents from seeking or accepting support. Details of the digital media 
campaign are attached at Appendix 1.

6.4 The success of the campaign will be measured on an increased take up of support 
from local parents and upon the reach of the information.

Page 118



7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 There are no financial implications to the report as all of the support is provided 
through existing Tackling Poverty grants within the local authority.

8.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10

4. Biodiversity
0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:
The main positive impacts are: challenging the negative stereotypes or perceptions that exist of 
those that need additional support as a parent.  This campaign is intended to increase take up of 
prevention services and support improved outcomes for children and their families.

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING)

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 119



Appendix 1 - Digital Media Campaign

Concept; ‘Be positive, not perfect’ – as parents we’re all trying to find our way and do what’s best for 
our children. Nobody gets it right all the time and that’s ok.  It’s how you approach it that counts
Output: logo development and messaging, roller banner

Website Output: Bilingual copy and visuals for the following web pages: content 
 ‘Be positive, not perfect’ – main campaign page. Why positive is better than perfect 
 Issues every parent faces and how to deal with them positively – subpage. Issues at the 

different stages of a child’s life and how resilience and engagement can help
 Positive home life – subpage. Setting boundaries discipline and rewards. 
 Positive relationships – subpage. Parent-child; Parent-parent; Parent-school; Child-child
 Positive education – subpage. Helping child with learning
 Reaching breaking point – subpage. ‘Who to talk to’.
 Use of www.merthyrfis.org 

Video/photography Output: x4 bilingual videos and photography
 Overarching campaign video for ‘Be positive, not perfect’ campaign
 Parents (a broad range – parents of six kids, mixed families, single mums, single dads, working 

mums, first time parents etc) – we would ask all parents the same set of questions, such as 
‘What are your aspirations for your child?, what’s the best bit about being a parent, what’s 
the hardest bit about being a parent, what’s the best bit of advice you’ve ever been given, 
what’s your biggest worry for your child, what is the one thing your child does that drives you 
up the wall etc). 

 Professionals (teachers, social workers, family support officers) – we’d do the same style video 
to help humanise the people providing support, help break down the barriers and stigma 
attached 

 Parents who have accessed support – why, what it involves, experiences, breaking down 
myths/barriers

Digital Output: Social media graphics and content for four-month campaign on Facebook, digital 
adverts for four month campaign on Google Display Network 

 Adverts/Graphics will be created to tie in with each of the campaign subpages. In addition 
other graphics will be created/images sourced that tie in with the concept. For example, the 
myths of perfect parenting

 Parenting memes about not being perfect. For example, ‘Good parenting does not mean 
giving your child a perfect life. It means teaching them how to live a good and happy life in 
an imperfect world’

 A call out to parents to share ‘not perfect’ parenting pics on social media  

Print Outputs: Leaflet for distribution via schools, health centres, leisure centres etc.
‘Be positive, not perfect’ leaflet

TV Outputs: Advert creation to run for one-month campaign on Sky Adsmart
‘Be positive, not perfect’ overarching video

Page 120

http://www.merthyrfis.org/


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pontmorlais Promenade and Labour Exchange

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 As part of the approved Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) application submission to 
Welsh Government (WG) in 2014, the re-development of the former Labour 
Exchange site was identified as a key project.  £2.025m was ring-fenced towards the 
project.

1.2 The project sought to achieve the re-development and regeneration of an area of 
derelict land on the Pontmorlais Promenade and also the retention of the former 
Labour Exchange façade in recognition of it cultural and heritage importance. 

1.3 Hale Construction the contractors appointed by WWHA commenced on site in spring 
2016.  During the early stages of site development it became apparent that the 
engineering and ground preparation phase was challenging.  However, WWHA 
remained confident about the scheme deliverability.

1.4 In early 2017 work commenced to install soil nails to stabilise the excavated 
embankment, however unforeseen sand pockets within the soils were being 
discovered together with significant fluctuating ground water levels.

1.5 Although the ground conditions were challenging WWHA advised that with additional 
finance the scheme was still achievable.

1.6 WWHA carried out additional work by injecting grout into the soils to stabilise the 
slope together with installing drainage to relieve the water pressure. 

Date Written 2nd November 2018 
Report Author Zoe Thomas / Alyn Owen 
Service Area Community Regeneration 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 21st November 2018 

Page 121

Agenda Item 11



1.7 WWHA then appointed a specialist geotechnical consultant in Hydrock who 
recommended a period of ground water monitoring.

1.8 In January 2018, WWHA met with Merthyr Tydfil CBC and WG and explained that 
the report that they had received to date from Hydrock had not outlined the preferred 
solution, as they had hoped it would. 

 
1.9 WWHA’s conclusion based on the information within Hydrock’s report is that the site 

is not developable. Furthermore they believe the most economical and safest option 
would be to reinstate the embankment.

1.10 WWHA stated that Hydrock Engineers have confirmed the site is not-developable 
and this is due primarily due to the risks associated with the development of the 
houses on the site and the finance required.  Merthyr Tydfil CBC has requested this 
formally in writing and WWHA will submit a formal confirmation shortly.

1.11 A Planning application will be submitted for the re-instatement of the site into a 
landscaped area and informal public amenity, and will need to be fit for purpose and 
to show the issues relating to the water on the site.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Cabinet approve in principle a proposal to re-grade and landscape the embankment 
subject to the completion of the further hydrological surveys and assessments and 
an acceptable scheme being provided. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Community Regeneration has been in detailed discussion with Wales and West 
Housing Association (WWHA) since 2013 regarding the re-development of the 
Pontmorlais Promenade and Labour Exchange Site.  

3.2 As part of the approved Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) application submission to 
Welsh Government (WG) in 2014, the re-development of the former Labour 
Exchange site was identified as a key project.  £2.025m was ring-fenced towards the 
project. 

3.3 The project sought to achieve the re-development and regeneration of an area of 
derelict land on the Pontmorlais Promenade and also the retention of the former 
Labour Exchange façade in recognition of it cultural and heritage importance.  

3.4 The approved scheme sought to deliver 20 high quality affordable housing units, a 
mix of 2 bed homes and 1 bed flats to meet an identified housing need. 

Page 122



4.0 ISSUES ENCOUNTERED WITH THE SITE

4.1 Hale Construction the contractors appointed by WWHA commenced on site in spring 
2016.  During the early stages of site development it became apparent that the 
engineering and ground preparation phase was challenging.  However, WWHA 
remained confident about the scheme deliverability. 

4.2 Most of the early development phase concentrated on the preservation of the Labour 
Exchange façade and completion of the new flats.  

4.3  In early 2017 work commenced to install soil nails to stabilise the excavated 
embankment, however unforeseen sand pockets within the soils were being 
discovered together with significant fluctuating ground water levels. 

4.4 Although the ground conditions were challenging WWHA advised that with additional 
finance the scheme was still achievable. 

4.5 As a result of the unforeseen issues and costs, Merthyr Tydfil CBC requested an 
additional £589k in March 2017 from WG, to ensure the engineering work and 
subsequent housing development scheme could proceed as planned. 

4.6 WWHA carried out additional work by injecting grout into the soils to stabilise the 
slope together with installing drainage to relieve the water pressure. Unfortunately 
this did not prevent further slippage of the embankment.  

4.7 WWHA then appointed a specialist geotechnical consultant in Hydrock who 
recommended a period of ground water monitoring. Two boreholes were drilled with 
the installation of inclinometers to monitor ground water movements. 

4.8 A working group was established including Regeneration, Planning and Engineering 
in order to review the information being received from WWHA and to ensure that the 
necessary support is available to the organisation. 

5.0 MONITORING AND CURRENT POSITION 

5.1 During the period of additional groundwater monitoring, progress continued on site in 
relation to delivery of the 8 flats and the Labour Exchange façade retention.  This 
resulted in outputs being achieved against the VVP Programme.  This was delivered 
in line with planning reference P/16/0096.  Permission was granted for the whole 
Labour Exchange site development on the 10.11.2016.

5.2 In September 2017, WWHA confirmed that further works in relation to the affected 
area had ceased and all subcontractors had left site.  Due to the complex 
hydrological issues affecting the slope WWHA, as well as continuing with ground 
water monitoring, would provide an options appraisal for future use of the site also. 

5.3 In January 2018, WWHA met with Merthyr Tydfil CBC and WG and explained that 
the report that they had received to date from Hydrock had not outlined the preferred 
solution, as they had hoped it would.  However they would continue to monitor the 
ground water levels. 

Page 123



5.4 A draft ground investigation report was prepared by Hydrock which was forwarded to 
MTCBC for review in June 2018, but no recommendations were included within the 
report.  

5.5 Merthyr Tydfil CBC appointed geologist Blandford Consulting to review the findings 
within the Hydrock’s report and to confirm its content. 

5.6 WWHA’s conclusion based on the information within Hydrock’s report is that the site 
is not developable. Furthermore they believe the most economical and safest option 
would be to reinstate the embankment. 

6.0 NEXT STEPS 

6.1 A meeting was held on the 24th October 2018 to agree the next steps for the project.  
WWHA stated that Hydrock Engineers have confirmed the site is not-developable 
and this is due primarily due to the risks associated with the development of the 
houses on the site and the finance required.  Merthyr Tydfil CBC has requested this 
formally in writing and WWHA will submit a formal confirmation shortly. 

6.2 Hydrock is still continuing to monitor the ground water on the Labour Exchange site.  
A final report will be produced outlining the recommendations for future designs for 
the site, now that Hydrock has confirmed to WWHA that it is not-developable, and 
the final report will also confirm the stability of the embankment. 

6.3 A Planning application will be submitted for the re-instatement of the site into a 
landscaped area and informal public amenity, and will need to be fit for purpose and 
to show the issues relating to the water on the site.   WWHA have been advised to 
submit a pre-app for the site and will need to include details on drainage, 
landscaping, stability and future maintenance.  

6.4 The existing planning application for the flats will be impacted upon as the drainage 
design for the site which will be landscaped, will affect the drainage solution for the 
flats.  WWHA are expecting the designs in early November and will share with 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC upon receipt. 

6.5 The costs and timescales associated with the designs and re-instatement of the site 
are currently unknown but meeting will continue to be held with WWHA to discuss 
progress. 

6.6 WG have requested confirmation from Merthyr Tydfil CBC that the outputs 
associated with the finance approved for the re-development will not be achieved for 
the Labour Exchange site, due to the unforeseen issues uncovered during the 
construction period.  It is imperative that all of the information requested from WWHA 
is submitted in order for Community Regeneration to report into the WG 
Regeneration Capital Investment Panel. 

Page 124



7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

7.1 There are no financial implications for the local authority associated with this project. 
WWHA are financing the additional ground water monitoring.  The project is 100% 
funded and no funding has been secured through the local authority towards this 
project.  

8.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives  3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10

4. Biodiversity 1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the Pontmorlais Promenade and Labour Exchange 
Project will meet the Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives and and Sustainable 
Development Principles through targeting housing development and the re-development 
of a derelict site in Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre.  The Programme will have a positive 
effect on the economy, socially and on the environment.   

The main negative impacts are that the Programme does not target all of the protected 
characteristics or biodiversity.  To have a positive impact on these would be difficult as 
this project forms part of a Capital Regeneration Programme.  

ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR COMMUNITY 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

Page 125



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 126



Document is Restricted

Page 127

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 139

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Quarter 2
	4 Capital Monitoring Report 2018/19 – Quarter 2
	5 Annual Risk Management Progress Report and Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19
	6 School Reorganisation – 3 to 16 Voluntary Aided School
	7 Call off Contract for the supply of refuse vehicles
	8 Public Open Space, Woodlands Avenue Treharris
	9 Community Zone - Update
	10 Be Positive not Perfect - Parenting Marketing Campaign
	11 Pontmorlais Promenade and Labour Exchange
	12 Debt Write Off report
	13 Direct Payments Support Service
	14 Land at Pant Industrial Estate, Merthyr Tydfil CF48 2SR

